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ViSiON
To be the leading organisation in the manufacturing and supply of accessories, products and services in the 
transportation industry.

MiSSiON
To continuously bring about innovation and quality products in order to ensure customer loyalty and pride and to 
achieve customer expansion.

To build a Jackspeed community that provides opportunities for growth through continuous personal development 
and training.

To safeguard all stakeholders’ interests and maximise returns through enhancement of values.



Corporate Profile
Established in 1993, Jackspeed Corporation Limited (“Jackspeed” or 

“the Group”) is a specialist manufacturer of custom-fitted leather trim for 

automotive seats, and a supplier of leather wrapping for interior parts 

such as steering wheels, consoles and shift knobs. Headquartered in 

Singapore, we have manufacturing facilities in Singapore, Malaysia, 

Thailand and China.

Capitalising on our technical competency, fine craftsmanship and keen 

attention to details, Jackspeed has successfully penetrated the niche 

market of leather, polyvinyl chloride and fabric seat customisation. Our 

Group is recognised internationally for its high quality automotive products, 

and our commitment to customer satisfaction is the cornerstone of our 

growing brand premium and forms the foundation of our continued 

progress in this highly competitive market.

In 2006, Jackspeed leveraged on its experience in the leather trim business 

and broadened its product portfolio into the automotive accessories 

sector; supplying, assembling and installing automobile products and 

non-factory fitted accessories. With our extended product portfolio, we 

now provide customers with a comprehensive and complementary one-

stop range of innovative and functional accessories and services.

Riding on the Singapore Plan to become the regional aviation maintenance, 

repair and overhaul (“MRO”) hub, Jackspeed has made decisive inroads 

into the country’s aircraft retrofitting market. The Group’s capabilities 

include aircraft seat maintenance, overhaul and retrofitting for private 

jets, commercial planes and helicopters as well as marine upholstery for 

pleasure crafts.

Our aviation division has become a professional solution provider for 

various operators and hangars in the region for aircraft cabin. We were 

certified by both the Civil Aviation Authority of Singapore (CAAS) and 

Federal Aviation Administrative (FAA) as an Approved Repair Station 

for aircraft seat assemblies, flooring, sidewalls etc. under Part 145. 

Jackspeed has also qualified itself under various major airlines operators 

and repair facilities in the region as a Certified Approved Vendor.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I present to you 

the Annual Report for Jackspeed Corporation Limited 

(“Jackspeed” or our “Group”) for the financial year ended 

28 February 2009. 

The business conditions for FY2009 were exceptionally 

challenging, especially for the second half of the year as 

we bore the impact of the slowdown in the automotive 

industry brought on by the economic meltdown. As 

a result, Jackspeed incurred its first loss since its initial 

public offering in 2003.

In FY2009, the Group achieved revenue of S$34.8 million, 

a decline of 24% from S$46.1 million in FY2008. This is 

primarily due to the weak demand in 2H2009 as majority of 

the Group’s revenue was derived from supplying products 

and services to the automotive industry.

The Leather segment of the business registered S$19.5 

million in FY2009 compared to S$23.7 million last year. 

There was a decline of S$4.2 million or 18% year-on-

year. This is mainly attributable to lower orders across the 

Group’s three main markets namely OEM, Distributor and 

After Market. The Distributor market contributed about 

12% of the total decline, and mainly due to lower sales 

from Singapore customers.

For the Accessories segment, revenue fell S$7.1 million 

or 32% compared to last year. The decrease is mainly 

attributable to reduced demand from our OEM customer 

To meet the challenges 
ahead, the Group will strive 
to take necessary measures 
to push for further and better 
operational improvements 
through manpower-
related, process-related 
and supply chain initiatives 
while maintaining financial 
prudence in all aspects of our 
operations.

02  |  Jackspeed Corporation Limited    Annual Report 2009

Letter to Shareholders



in Thailand. The Group also recorded impairment losses of 

S$3.5 million and S$1.8 million on goodwill and customer 

base intangible asset respectively for this segment.

Other one-off expenses included an allowance of S$1.1 

million on impairment from receivables due from an 

associate company since the recovery of this receivable is 

doubtful due to the associate company’s adverse financial 

position. We also incurred approximately S$0.3 million in 

professional charges for attending to queries raised by a 

former director relating to FY2008 group accounts and 

to determine the final number of shares to be issued in 

respect of the acquisition of the Accessories business.

Despite the financial setbacks, Jackspeed has attained 

certain milestone in FY2009 that will put the Group in good 

stead going forward.

In July 2008, we added a feather in our cap when our 

Aviation division received the United States Federal 

Aviation Administration’s certification as an Approved 

Repair Station. This is in addition to our existing Civil 

Aviation Authority of Singapore’s certification as an Aircraft 

Cabin Repair Station. This makes Jackspeed one of the 

few Approved Repair Stations in Singapore.

With Singapore fast becoming a regional hub for Aviation 

Maintenance Repair and Overhaul Centre in the region, 

these certifications will pave the way for the Group’s 

expansion beyond our core automotive industry and into 

the higher margin aviation industry.

Looking AheAd 
The global economic downturn and tight credit conditions 

in almost every economy is expected to persist through 

the year. The difficult market conditions have adversely 

impacted and will continue to dampen the automotive 

industry both domestically and internationally.

The Company, a downstream supplier to the automotive 

industry, has been affected by the slowdown in the 

industry and we expect volume for both our Leather and 

Accessories segments to continue eroding. The outlook 

for the year remained challenging and fraught with 

uncertainties.

AppreciAtion 
On behalf of the Board of directors, I would like to take 

this opportunity to thank our staff for their dedication and 

commitment to work together as a team to turn the Group 

around. Together we will take on the challenges ahead of 

us and emerge stronger at the turn of recovery.

Our sincere gratitude also goes to our shareholders 

for their unwavering support in this trying period of 

global economic downturn. We look forward to your 

continued support and confidence in us as we ride through 

this crisis.

Liew Ham Chow
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
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FinAnciAL perForMAnce
FY2009 was a challenging year for the Group primarily due 
to the slowdown in the automotive industry following the 
global economic meltdown in the second half of the year. 
Group revenue of S$34.8 million was 24% lower compared 
to S$46.1 million in FY2008.

The Group’s leather, accessories and aviation divisions 
contributed 51%, 44% and 5% of revenue respectively as 
compared to 47%, 49% and 4% in FY2008. 

Due to the exceptionally difficult economic environment, 
the Group made its maiden loss since its IPO in 2003. 

FinAnciAL position
Although the group reported S$8.7 million post tax loss in 
FY2009, our balance sheet remained healthy with minimal 
borrowings and no liquidity problem.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalent balances as at 28 
February 2009 increased by about 5% from S$11.4 million 
to S$12.0 million.

Despite our net tangible assets per share decreasing 
by 12%, on an enlarged share capital, from 14.7 cents 
per share (based on 187,612,000 shares in issue) as at 
29 February 2008 to 13.0 cents per share (based on 
209,243,000 shares in issue) as at 28 February 2009, the 
Group does not envisage the need for any capital raising 
exercise.

In light of the automotive industry slowdown, the Group 
will strive to take necessary measures to push for further 
and better operational improvements while maintaining 
financial prudence in all aspects of our operations.

Operations Review
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segMentAL contribution
For the financial year ended 28 February 2009, the Group’s 
revenue was organised into two business segments, 
the Leather segment (which includes Aviation) and the 
Accessories segment.

The Group will continue to monitor and review its business 
segments so as to reflect and review contributions from 
these activities. 

LeAther division
Revenue from the Leather segment registered a decrease 
of about 18% in FY2009 from S$23.7 million to S$19.5 
million. This is mainly due to lower orders from car 
distributors, parallel importers and other traders.

The Group will actively adopt an efficient cost structure 
for its operations while also pursue and develop potential 
business opportunities.

For the European market, we have managed to put our 
own installation team in place and also forged multiple 
strategic agreements with our appointed agents in FY2009, 
following our successful penetration in FY2008. 

To bring about improved productivity and cost efficiency, 
we have shut down our plants in Indonesia and Thailand 
and relocated our production capabilities to our new plant 
in China.

In FY2009, the Leather segment has managed to 
consolidate its resources in manpower and facilities. This 
will bring about improved cost competitiveness, which will 
in turn facilitate customer acquisition and retention.

Accessories division
Revenue for the Accessories segment dropped by about 
32% to S$15.3 million from S$22.4 million due to weaker 
demand from the Original Equipment Manufacturer (OEM) 
market in Thailand.

To weather the current slowdown in the automotive industry, 
the Group has streamlined our production facilities and 
undergone right-sizing of our manpower. These initiatives 
will reduce our cost structure to commensurate with the 
current level of activities.

On a brighter note, our Thailand plant achieved full 
manufacturing capability in January 2009. This takes 
our business in Thailand one notch up from the trading 
business we were involved in previously. We will capitalise 
on our capabilities to gain supplier accreditations and also 
attempt to reach out to other OEMs.

AviAtion division
In July 2008, our Aviation Division obtained the United 
States Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) certification 
as an Approved Repair Station. This is in addition to the 
Division’s existing Civil Aviation Authority of Singapore’s 
certification as an Aircraft Cabin Repair Station.

We will continue to build on our existing capabilities to 
expand our customer base locally and in the region.
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In the Aviation Sector

“With over 10 years of automotive experience, 

Jackspeed has extended its expertise into the 

Aviation industry with the capabilities to carry out 

total seat assemblies (cockpit, flight attendant 

and all classes of passenger seats), repair, 

servicing and modification under both the Civil 

Aviation Authority of Singapore and Federal 

Aviation Administration - Part 145 Repair Station 

Approval.

Jackspeed Aviation Pte Ltd capabilities include 

a wide range of services and products to 

cater to various aircraft cabin refurbishment 

solutions to the operators, requiring cabin 

upgrades, repair or maintenance.

With accolades of more than a hundred aircrafts 

which have been supported by Jackspeed 

Aviation worldwide, our highly skilled and certified 

engineers, technicians and craftsmen would 

provide the highest quality products and services 

possible to our customers.”
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2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

(S$’000)

Revenue 32,815 31,797 43,738 46,059 34,845

Profit / (loss) before tax 3,495 3,527 3,817 3,799 (8,551)

Earnings / (loss) attributable to equity 
holders of the company

2,467 2,612 2,941 2,905 (8,466)

Earnings / (loss) per share (cents)  1.88  1.99  1.84  1.58  (4.35)

Revenue 
(S$’000)

Profit / (loss) before tax
(S$’000)

Earnings / (loss) attributable 
to equity holders of the 
company
(S$’000)
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LIEW HAM CHOW, JACKSON has been an Executive Director since 1994 and is a Member 
of the Nominating Committee. He was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) 
since 2003 and also assumed the role of Chairman of the Company in February 2008. He 
charts and reviews our corporate direction and business strategies and is responsible for the 
Group’s strategic operations and overall performance.

Mr Liew has been involved in the automotive industry through the incorporation of Jackson 
Vehicle Service Centre in 1983 and Jackspeed Automobile Service Centre in 1986 as 
workshops for the repair and maintenance of motor vehicles. As one of our founding 
shareholders, Mr Liew was pivotal in the development of Jackspeed from a small-medium 
enterprise to a recognised brand name, with manufacturing facilities in Singapore, Malaysia, 
Thailand and China. 

Mr Liew has an honorary Bachelor of Science (Business Administration) from Kennedy-
Western University, Cheyenne, Wyoming, USA. In recognition of his achievements, he was 
awarded the title of “The Entrepreneur of the Year” in 2003 by the Rotary Club of Singapore 
and the Association of Small and Medium Enterprises (ASME).

VOO JUN HING, VINCENT was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company on 
11 October 2004. With over 15 years of experience in finance and management, Mr Voo 
is currently responsible for overseeing the management and business development of the 
Group’s Leather division.

Mr Voo joined the Company in 2000 as our Administration and Human Resource Manager 
and was promoted to General Manager of our Malaysia subsidiary and subsequently General 
Manager of Singapore operations, before assuming his present appointment. Prior to joining 
our Group, Mr Voo worked at a Malaysia licensed tax firm, Taxplan Management Services 
Sdn Bhd as a senior tax supervisor from 1989 to 1992.

Mr Voo has a Diploma in Business Studies from Southern College, Johor Bahru, Malaysia 
and a Higher Stage Group Diploma in Accounting from London Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry, and is an Accounting Administrator of the Malaysian Association of Accounting 
Administrators.

CHANG YEH HONG was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company on 9 
October 2003 and is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and also a Member of the 
Remuneration Committee and Nominating Committee.

Mr Chang is currently the Managing Director of Nordic Corporation Pte Ltd and its related 
companies. Prior to this appointment, Mr Chang was an Executive Director of Technics 
Group Holdings Ltd, in charge of finance and corporate development. He has over 18 years 
of experience in banking with Standard Chartered Bank and Citibank, holding local, regional 
and global positions. Prior to 2002, he was the Regional Managing Director of Asia Pacific 
with Citibank and global head of a product group with Standard Chartered Bank.

Board of Directors
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Mr Chang holds a Bachelor of Arts degree majoring in Economics from the National University 
of Singapore and has completed the International Executive Management Programme in 
INSEAD Fontainebleau, France and the Business Financial Management Programme with 
Manchester Business School, UK.

Mr Chang also serves on the board of Union Steel Holdings Ltd, a Singapore listed 
company.

LEE KIM LIAN, JULIANA was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company on 
30 September 2005 and is the Chairman of the Nominating Committee and also a Member 
of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Ms Lee has more than 18 years of experience in legal practice and is currently a Director 
of Aptus Law Corporation, heading its corporate practice. Her main areas of practice are 
corporate law, corporate finance, mergers and acquisitions and venture capital.

Ms Lee graduated with a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree from the National University of 
Singapore and is a member of the Singapore Institute of Directors. 

Ms Lee also serves on the board of two other listed companies, namely Lee Metal Group Ltd 
and Zhongguo Pengjie Fabrics Ltd.

DR TAN ENG LIANG was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company on 30  
June 2008. He is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and Member of the Audit 
Committee.

Dr Tan has held several leading corporate and government positions. He was a Member 
of Parliament from 1972 to 1980, during which he served as Senior Minister of State for 
National Development from 1975 to 1978 and Senior Minister of State for Finance from 
1978 to 1979. He also served as the Chairman of the Urban Redevelopment Authority, the 
Singapore Quality and Reliability Association, Executive Vice President of Wuthelam Holdings 
Ltd and the Chairman for Singapore Sports Council for 16 years from 1975 to 1991 and still 
contributes as the Vice-President of the Singapore National Olympic Council. He is also the 
Chairperson for Advisory Committee for Sports under the Singapore Youth Olympic Games 
Organising Committee. Dr Tan has been awarded the Public Service Star (BBM), Public 
Service Star (BAR) and the Meritorious Service Medal by the Singapore Government.

Dr Tan was the first Rhodes Scholar in Singapore, Malaya and Brunei, and gained his 
Doctorate in Chemistry from Oxford University, England in 1964. 

Dr Tan also serves on the board of many other listed companies, namely Sunmoon Food 
Company Ltd, Pokka Corporation (Singapore) Limited, Progen Holdings Ltd, Sapphire 
Corporation Limited, United Engineers Ltd, Tung Lok Restaurants (2000) Ltd and Hartawan 
Holdings Limited.
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Key Management
LEE SENG JEOW, ANDREW is the Director of the 
Accessories Division and he also heads the Group’s 
Sales and Marketing function. He is overall responsible 
for developing the strategic business direction for the 
Accessories Division. Additionally, he oversees the 
expansion plan in Europe and supports in the Group’s 
operational initiatives. Mr Lee has over 15 years of 
experience in the automotive industry and an in-depth 
understanding of the region’s operating environment. Prior 
to joining the Group, Mr Lee was a founding member 
of Jackson Vehicle Holdings Pte Ltd as its Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer – and was tasked with directing the 
company’s business and expansion strategies. He had 
also served as Senior Manager for Tan Chong & Sons 
Motor Co., (S) Pte Ltd, and as General Manager in Sales 
and Marketing for Premium Automobiles Pte Ltd. Mr Lee 
graduated from the University of Calgary, Canada with a 
Bachelor of Social Sciences (Psychology) in 1988.
 
LIM KIAN KOK was appointed as the General Manager of 
J.V. (Thailand) Co., Ltd in January 2009. He is responsible 
for overseeing and managing the Accessories Division in 
Thailand and concurrently the General Manager of Leather 
Division in Malaysia. Mr Lim joined the Group in 2001 as 
a Marketing Executive for our Malaysia factory. In 2004, 
he was made the Quality Assurance Manager of Malaysia 
operations and Group’s management representative for 
Quality, Environmental, Occupational Health and Safety 
management systems, responsible for the Group’s quality 
control procedures and continued compliance with ISO/TS 
16949, ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001 standards. He was 
promoted in 2005 to Assistant General Manager in charge 
of Malaysia operations. Mr Lim has a Bachelor in Business 
Administration from National Cheng Chi University, Taipei 
and was the Branch Officer-in-charge at Hong Leong 
Assurance Bhd when he left in December 2000.

PANG PUI FUN is the General Manager for our Leather 
Division in Singapore and heads the Group’s procurement 
and logistics function as well as assist in overseeing the 
Malaysia operations. Ms Pang joined the Group in 1995 
as an Administrative Assistant and through her exemplary 
efforts progressed to the position of Group Purchasing 
Manager in 2003 and was promoted to Assistant General 
Manager in 2005 prior to her current position in June 2006. 
Before joining Jackspeed, she was a quality assurance 
auditor in an electronics company, from 1992 to 1994. Ms 
Pang has a Bachelor of Science in Business Management 
from University of Bradford, United Kingdom.

WINNIE LIEW is the General Manager of Jackson Vehicle 
(Singapore) Pte Ltd. She is responsible for overseeing and 
managing our Accessories Division in Singapore. Ms Liew 
was one of the founding members of Jackson Vehicle 
Holdings Pte Ltd, a company which we acquired in March 
2006 together with its subsidiaries. Prior to her present 
appointment, Ms Liew joined Jackson Vehicle Singapore 
in 1984 and has gained her managerial experience through 
various appointments in administration, production, human 
resource and finance over the years.

LIANG YEW MENG, JERRY is the Assistant General 
Manager of Jackspeed Aviation Pte Ltd. Mr Liang joined 
the Group as a Senior Manager in September 2005 and 
was appointed to his current position in September 2007. 
He is responsible for overseeing and managing the Aviation 
Division and was instrumental in obtaining the certifications 
for the Certified Repair Station (Part 145), both under the 
Civil Aviation Authority of Singapore (CAAS) - AWI/233 and 
the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA, US) - ZZYJ120B. 
He has over twenty years experience in the aerospace 
industry, spanning areas like flight operations, engineering 
and program management. He graduated from RMIT 
University in Australia with a Bachelor of Science in 
Aerospace Engineering and he also holds both FAA and 
Australian CASA Aircraft Maintenance Engineer Licences.
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Corporate Governance Report

Jackspeed Corporation Limited (“the Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed to maintaining a 

high standard of corporate governance to safeguard the interest of all its stakeholders.

This Report discloses the Company’s corporate governance framework and practices with specifi c reference made to the 

principles of the Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (“the Code”) and explains any deviation from the Code.

Principle 1 – The Board’s Conduct of Affairs

Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board is collectively 

responsible for the success of the company. The Board works with Management to achieve this and the 

Management remains accountable to the Board.

The Board consists of fi ve members, comprising the Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer, three Non-Executive Independent 

Directors and one Executive Director. Collectively, the Directors bring a wide range of business, legal and fi nancial experience 

relevant to the Group.

The Board sets the overall business direction, provides guidance on the Company’s strategic plans with particular attention 

paid to growth and fi nancial performance and oversees the management of the Company. 

The principal functions of the Board include:

(a)  Approving policies, strategies and fi nancial objectives of the Company and monitoring the performance of 

Management;

(b)  Overseeing the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, risk management, fi nancial reporting and 

compliance;

(c)  Approving nominations of Board Directors, committee members and key personnel; and

(d)  Approving annual budgets, funding requirements, expansion programmes, capital investments, major acquisitions and 

divestments proposals.

To ensure smooth and effective running of the Group and to facilitate decision making, the Board has delegated some of 

its powers and functions to various Committees, such as the Audit Committee, Nominating Committee and Remuneration 

Committee which are chaired by Independent Directors. These Committees operate within their own written terms of 

reference.

The Board meets regularly to discuss and address Board matters. The Company’s Articles of Association provide for the Board 

to convene meetings via telephonic and other electronic means. During the fi nancial year, the Board met six (6) times.
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The number of Board Meetings held and the attendance of each Board member at the meetings for the fi nancial year ended 

28 February 2009 are as follows: -

Name of Director 

Number of meetings 

held while a member 

Number of meetings

 attended 

Liew Ham Chow, Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer 6 6

Voo Jun Hing, Executive Director 6 6 

Chang Yeh Hong, Non-Executive Independent Director 6 5 

Lee Kim Lian, Juliana, Non-Executive Independent Director 6 6 

Ang Kian Lee, Non-Executive Director (1) 5 4 

Tan Eng Liang, Non-Executive Independent Director (2) 4 4 

(1)  Resigned as a Non-Executive Director on 10 February 2009.
(2)  Appointed as an Independent Director on 30 June 2008.

The Company has adopted internal guidelines setting forth matters that require Board’s approval. Matters that specifi cally 

require Board’s approval are those involving, annual budget, major funding and investment proposals, mergers and acquisition 

transactions, release of results announcements and any other announcements, appointment of Directors and key personnel 

and all other matters of material importance. The Board will review the guidelines on a periodical basis to ensure their relevance 

to the operations of the Company.

Board members are also encouraged to attend seminars and receive training to improve themselves in the discharge of their 

duties as Directors. The Company works closely with professionals to provide its Directors with changes to relevant laws, 

regulations and accounting standards. 

Principle 2 - Board Composition and Guidance

There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective judgement 

on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No individual or small group of individuals 

should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

The Company endeavors to maintain a strong and independent element on the Board and will continue to review the Board 

size to ensure that it is appropriate and effective to facilitate decision making. The Independent Directors have confi rmed that 

they do not have any relationship with the Company or its related companies or its offi cers that could interfere, or be reasonably 

perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s independent business judgment. The Nominating Committee (“NC”) 

has reviewed and determined that the said Directors are independent. The independence of each Director is reviewed annually 

by the NC.

The Board will review its current size to ensure that it is appropriate and effective to facilitate decision making, taking into 

account the nature and scope of the Company’s operations. Together, the Board members possess a balanced fi eld of core 

competencies to lead the Company. Details of the Board members’ qualifi cations and experience are presented in this Annual 

Report under the heading “Board of Directors”.

Corporate Governance Report
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Principle 3 - Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer

There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company – the working of the Board and the 

executive responsibility of the company’s business – which will ensure a balance of power and authority, such that 

no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.

The Group’s Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer (“CEO”), Mr Liew Ham Chow plays an instrumental role in developing 

the business of the Group and provides the Group with strong leadership and vision. The presence of a strong independent 

element and participation of the Independent Directors ensure that the Chairman and CEO does not have unfettered powers 

of decision.

The CEO is the most senior executive in the Company and assumes executive responsibility for the Company’s business. 

As the Chairman, he ensures that regular Board meetings are held and ad-hoc meetings are convened when necessary and 

that the Board is updated on the Group’s affairs, oversees the preparation of the agenda for Board meetings and ensures 

the Group’s compliance with the Code. The Chairman also ensures that the Board members are provided with complete, 

adequate and timely information and board papers include suffi cient fi nancial, business and corporate information for Board 

members to appraise on matters to be discussed during Board meetings.

Management staff are invited to attend Board meetings, as and when appropriate, to provide additional insight to matters 

raised at such meetings.

Principle 4 - Board Membership

There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors to the Board.

The Nominating Committee (“NC”) comprises three members, a majority of whom including the Chairman are Non-Executive 

Independent Directors.

The members of the NC are:

1) Ms Lee Kim Lian, Juliana (Chairman)

2) Mr Chang Yeh Hong

3) Mr Liew Ham Chow

The NC is established for the purposes of ensuring that there is a formal and transparent process for all board appointments. 

It has adopted written terms of reference defi ning its membership, administration and duties. The NC met twice during the 

fi nancial year and the meetings were attended by all members.

Corporate Governance Report



16  |  Jackspeed Corporation Limited    Annual Report 2009

The duties of the NC are as follows:

(a) To make recommendations to the Board on all board appointments;

(b) To re-nominate Directors having regard to the director’s contribution and performance;

(c) To determine annually whether or not a director is independent; and

(d) To make recommendation to the Board the performance criteria and appraisal process to be used for the evaluation of 

the individual Directors as well as the effectiveness of the board as a whole, which criteria and process shall be subject 

to board’s approval

The Articles of Association of the Company currently require one-third of the Directors to retire and subject themselves to re-

election by the shareholders in every Annual General Meeting. In addition, all Directors of the Company shall retire from offi ce 

at least once every three years.

The dates of fi rst appointment and last election of each director, together with their directorship(s) in other listed companies 

are as follows: - 

Name of Director Appointment

Date of first 

appointment

Date of last

re-election

Directorships in other 

listed companies

Liew Ham Chow Executive 

Director

15 January 1993 25 June 2007 –

Voo Jun Hing Executive 

Director

11 October 2004 25 June 2007 –

Chang Yeh Hong Independent 

Director

9 October 2003 30 June 2008 Union Steel Holdings Ltd

Lee Kim Lian, Juliana Independent 

Director

30 September 2005 30 June 2008 Lee Metal Group Ltd

Zhongguo Pengjie Fabrics Ltd

Tan Eng Liang Independent 

Director

30 June 2008 Not applicable Sunmoon Food Company Ltd

Sapphire Corporation Ltd

Progen Holdings Ltd

Pokka Corporation (S) Ltd

Tung Lok Restaurants (2000) Ltd

United Engineers Ltd

Hartawan Holdings Limited
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Principle 5 - Board Performance

There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution by each 

director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The NC evaluates the performance of the Board as a whole as well as the contributions made by each director to the 

effectiveness of the Board. The NC will consider the attendance, participation and contribution of individual Director at Board 

and Committee meetings and those factors set out in the Code of Corporate Governance to evaluate the individual director’s 

performance.

Principle 6 - Access to Information

In order to fulfi l their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, adequate and timely 

information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis.

The Board is furnished with board papers prior to any Board meeting. These papers are issued in suffi cient time to enable the 

Directors to obtain additional information or explanations from the Management, if necessary.

The Directors may communicate directly with the Management team and the Company Secretary on all matters whenever they 

deem necessary. The Company Secretary attends Board meetings and is responsible for recording of the proceedings.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for the Board as a whole.

The Company currently does not have a formal procedure for Directors to seek independent and professional advice for the 

furtherance of their duties. However, Directors may, on a case-to-case basis, propose to the Board for such independent and 

professional advice, the cost of which may be borne by the Company.

Principle 7 - Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration and for 

fi xing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own 

remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises three members, all of whom including the Chairman are Non-Executive 

Independent Directors.

The members of the RC are:

1) Dr Tan Eng Liang (Chairman) (1)

2) Mr Chang Yeh Hong (2)

3) Ms Lee Kim Lian, Juliana
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The RC is established for the purposes of ensuring that there is a formal and transparent procedure for fi xing the remuneration 

packages of individual Director. The overriding principle is that no Director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration. 

It has adopted written terms of reference that defi nes its membership, roles and functions and administration.

The number of RC Meetings held and the attendance of each member at the meetings for the fi nancial year ended 28 February 

2009 are as follows: -

Name of Director 

Number of meetings 

held while a member 

Number of meetings 

attended 

Tan Eng Liang (1) 2 2

Chang Yeh Hong (2) 2 2 

Lee Kim Lian, Juliana 2 2 

Ang Kian Lee (3) 1 1 

(1) Appointed as a member and Chairman on 21 July 2008.
(2) Resigned as Chairman on 21 July 2008 and remained as a member.
(3)  Resigned as a member on 21 July 2008.

The duties of the RC are as follows:

(a) To review and recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for Executive Directors, Chief Executive Offi cer 

(“CEO”) and key executives of the Company;

(b) To review the remuneration packages of all managerial staff that are related to any of the Executive Directors or CEO; 

and

(c) To recommend to the Board in consultation with senior Management and the Chairman of the Board, Employees’ Share 

Option Schemes or any long-term incentive scheme when applicable.

Principle 8 - Level and Mix of Remuneration

The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors needed to run the 

company successfully but companies should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose. A signifi cant 

proportion of executive directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to link rewards to corporate and 

individual performance.

The RC determines the remuneration packages for each Executive Director based on the performance of the Company and 

the individual. The remuneration of the Executive Directors is based on their service agreements.

The Non-Executive Independent Directors receive Directors’ fees. In determining the quantum of directors’ fees, factors such 

as effort and time spent, and responsibilities of the Directors are taken into account.  
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The RC ensures that none of the Non-Executive Independent Directors are over-compensated to the extent that their 

independence may be compromised. The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting. 

The remuneration policies for key executives are based largely on the Company’s performance and the responsibilities and 

performance of each individual key executive. The RC recommends the remuneration packages of key executives to the Board 

for approval.

Principle 9 - Disclosure on Remuneration

Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, and the 

procedure for setting remuneration in the company’s annual report. It should provide disclosure in relation to its 

remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and key 

executives, and performance.

The remuneration of Directors for the year ended 28 February 2009 is as follows: -

 

Name of Director 

Remuneration 

Band

Directors’ 

Fees (1)

Base / Fixed 

Salary (2) All Others Total

% % % %

Liew Ham Chow

$250,000 to 

$500,000 - 82 18 100

Voon Jun Hing

Below $250,000

- 72 28 100

Chang Yeh Hong 100 - - 100

Lee Kim Lian, Juliana 100 - - 100

Tan Eng Liang 100 - - 100

Ang Lian Lee 44 - 56 100

(1) Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at the AGM to be held in June 2009.
(2) Includes annual wage supplement and employer’s CPF.

The range of gross remuneration of the top fi ve executives (executives who are not Directors) of the Company is as follows:

Name of Executive 

Remuneration 

Band

Base / Fixed 

Salary (2) All Others Total

% % %

Lee Seng Jeow, Andrew

Below $250,000

75 25 100

Lim Kian Kok 97 3 100

Pang Pui Fun 76 24 100

Winnie Liew (3)  84 16 100

Liang Yew Meng, Jerry 82 18 100

(3) Sister of Mr Liew Ham Chow (Director and CEO).
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The gross remuneration of Mr Liew San Chow, which exceeded $150,000 for the fi nancial year eneded 28 Feburuary 2009, 

is as follows:

Name of Executive 

Remuneration 

Band

Base / Fixed 

Salary (2) All Others Total

% % %

Liew San Chow (4) Below $250,000 60 40 100

(4) Mr Liew Sam Chow resigned as General Manager of PT JLS Indonesia on 28 February 2009. He is the brother of Mr 

Liew Ham Chow (Director and CEO).

Principle 10 – Accountability

The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s performance, position 

and prospects.

The Board is accountable to the shareholders while Management is accountable to the Board. As defi ned in the Code, the 

Board presents to shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position and 

prospect. The Management provides all Board members with management reports and accounts which represent balanced, 

understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospect on a regular basis.

It is the Board’s policy to provide the shareholders with all important and price sensitive information. These are done through 

the SGXNET during half-yearly announcements and as and when necessary.

Principle 11 - Audit Committee

The Board should establish an Audit Committee (“AC”) with written terms of reference which clearly set out its 

authority and duties.

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises three members, all of whom are Non-Executive Independent Directors.

The members of the AC are:

(1) Mr Chang Yeh Hong (Chairman)

(2) Ms Lee Kim Lian, Juliana

(3) Dr Tan Eng Liang (1)

The AC is established to assist the Board with discharging its responsibility to safeguard the Company’s assets, maintain 

adequate accounting records and develop and maintain effective systems of internal control. The Board is of the opinion that 

the members of the AC possess the necessary qualifi cations and experience in discharging their duties. The details of the 

Board member’s qualifi cations and experience are presented in this Annual Report under the heading “Board of Directors.”

Corporate Governance Report



Jackspeed Corporation Limited    Annual Report 2009  |  21

The terms of reference of the AC are as follows:

(a)  To review the audit plan, system of internal controls and the audit report in conjunction with both the internal and 

external auditors;

(b)  To review the assistance given by the Company’s offi cers to both the internal and external auditors;

(c)  To review the independence and objectivity of the external auditors annually;

(d)  To nominate external auditors for re-appointment;

(e)  To review the fi nancial statements of the Company including half-year and full-year results and the respective 

announcements before submission to the Board of Directors;

(f)  To give due consideration to the requirements of Stock Exchange Listing Rules; and

(g)  To review interested person transactions.

In discharging the above duties, the AC confi rms that it has full access to and co-operation from management and is given full 

discretion to invite any Director or Executive Director to attend its meetings. In addition, the AC has also been given reasonable 

resources to enable it to perform its functions properly.

The AC, having reviewed the scope and value of non-audit services provided to the Group by the external auditors, are satisfi ed 

that the nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. The 

AC has recommended to the Directors the nomination of RSM Chio Lim LLP for re-appointment as external auditors of the 

Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

Other fees to auditors

Group

2009

S$’000

2008

S$’000

- Company’s auditors 19 18

- Other auditors 3 20

The AC meets with the external and internal auditors, without the presence of the Company’s management, at least once a 

year.

The Company has adopted a Whistle Blowing Policy with the objective of providing a process for staff to raise, in confi dence 

and without fear of retaliation, incidents of possible improprieties in matters of fi nancial reporting or other matters to the 

Chairman of the AC. 

During the fi nancial year, the AC met fi ve (5) times and the details of attendance are as follows:

Name of Director

Number of meetings 

held while a member 

Number of meetings 

attended 

Chang Yeh Hong 5 4 

Lee Kim Lian, Juliana 5 5 

Tan Eng Liang (1) 4 4 

Ang Kian Lee (2) 4 3

(1) Appointed as a member on 21 July 2008.
(2)  Resigned as a Non-Executive Director on 10 February 2009.
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Principle 12 - Internal Controls

The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to safeguard the 

shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.

The Board believes that, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the system of internal controls maintained by the 

Company’s management provides reasonable assurance against material fi nancial misstatements or loss and includes the 

safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of fi nancial information, compliance with 

appropriate legislation, regulation and best practice and the identifi cation and management of business risks.

The Board notes that no system of internal control can provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, 

poor judgment in decision-making, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

Principle 13 - Internal Audit

The company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it audits.

The Company outsourced its internal audit function to Nexia TS Risk Advisory Pte Ltd, to carry out internal audit review using 

a risk-based approach. The internal auditors report to the AC and are independent of the activities it audits.

The internal auditors assist the AC to independently review the system of internal control as established by the management 

of the Company and its subsidiaries which provides the Board with much assurance it requires regarding the adequacy 

and integrity of the Group’s system of internal control. The internal auditors review the internal controls in the key activities 

of the business based on a three-year internal audit strategy and a detailed internal audit plan approved by the AC. The 

internal auditors adopt a risk-based approach and prepare its audit strategy and plan based on the risk profi les of the Group. 

Recommendations for improvements noted by the internal auditors are followed up for implementation by the management.

During the fi nancial year ended 28 February 2009, the internal auditors carried out two audits test the existence and effectiveness 

of the system of internal control of the Company as well as its subsidiaries.

The AC considers the report from internal auditors before reporting and making recommendations to the Board in strengthening 

risk management, internal control and governance system.

Principle 14 - Communication with Shareholders

Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.

The Company endeavours to communicate regularly, effectively and fairly with its shareholders. The Board ensures that 

materials and information helpful to shareholders are released on a timely basis. The Company does not practice selective 

disclosure. All announcements, including price sensitive information, are communicated to the shareholders through SGXNET 

on a timely basis. 
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Principle 15 - Greater Shareholder Participation

Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and allow shareholders the opportunity 

to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is the principal forum for dialogue with shareholders. All shareholders of the Company 

receive the annual report of the Company and notice of AGM within the stipulated period. Notices of meetings are published 

in the local newspaper and also made via the SGXNET.

The Company encourages active shareholders’ participation. During the AGM, shareholders may raise questions or share 

their views regarding the proposed resolutions and also the Company’s businesses and affairs. In addition, the Chairman of 

the respective Committees and management will be present at the AGM to address any queries from the shareholders. The 

Company’s independent auditors are also invited to attend the AGM and are available to assist the Directors in addressing 

any relevant queries by the shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of their auditors’ 

report. The Board values shareholders’ feedback and input.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Company has devised and adopted its own Code of Best Practices on dealing in the securities of the Company. Under the 

Code, dealing in the Company’s shares are prohibited during the period commencing one month prior to the announcement 

of the Company’s half year and full year results and ending on the date of announcement of the results.

All Directors and those who are in possession of price sensitive information are also advised to observe insider trading laws at 

all times even when dealing in the Company’s securities within the permitted trading period.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

There were no signifi cant interested person transaction for the fi nancial year ended 28 February 2009.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

There were no material contracts made by the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interest of the Chief Executive Offi cer, 

each director or controlling shareholder, either still subsisting at the end of the fi nancial year or if not then subsisting, entered 

into since the end of the previous fi nancial year.

BUSINESS RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has expanded its capabilities into the aviation industry. However, majority of our revenue will still be derived from the 

automobile market. We will continue to seek opportunities to expand our markets as well as products and services through 

establishments of new offi ces and factories in strategic locations.

The management will continue to identify areas where there are signifi cant business risks and considers the appropriate 

measures to be taken to control and mitigate these risks. The management reviews all signifi cant control policies and procedures 

and highlights all signifi cant matters to the AC. 

Corporate Governance Report



24  |  Jackspeed Corporation Limited    Annual Report 2009

INVENTORY RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group continues to derive a signifi cant portion of its sales from the OEM and Distributor markets; therefore, sales of our 

products are dependent of the consumer demand of our customer’s vehicles, amongst other factors.

In order to manage our inventory risk, we have to understand our car distributor market customers by evaluating the markets 

they operate in, and their modus operandi. We will be able to manage the inventory by having the most practicable level of 

inventory for certain customers, and at times, we will only place orders for raw materials upon fi rm orders from customers.

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

The Company recognizes the importance of human capital within the organization. It has put in place a systematic process to 

ensure that the employees are competitively rewarded and incentives and bonus are accorded based on the performance of 

the companies within the Group and individual performance.

PRODUCTION AND QUALITY RISK

The Group adopts the ISO/TS16949 standards and has put in place certain production process that will minimize errors and 

ensure the delivery of quality products to our customers. We also have a set of training system and methodologies for new 

production workers to ensure that they are able to adhere to our stringent standards.

SAFETY AND EMERGENCY RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group places strong emphasis on the fi re prevention and safety aspects in our daily operations. We have a fi re prevention and 

safety committee that ensure preventive measures are adhered to and ensure the readiness of staff from various departments 

to handle emergency situations.

In addition to the ISO14001 certifi cation, we also have the OHSAS 18001 management system in place.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a)  Foreign Exchange Risk

 From time to time where there is a requirement, the Group may enter into foreign currency forward contracts in the normal 

course of business to manage its exposure against foreign currency fl uctuations on sale and purchase transactions 

denominated in foreign currencies.

(b)  Credit Risk

 Credit risks arise from terms with our customers. The Group monitors the exposure of our credit risks on an ongoing 

basis and we have put in place a system that will manage the customer’s credit risk exposure. Advance payments and 

cash terms are requested for new customers while customers with good credit standing do enjoy some terms.

 Credit Risk on balances of cash and cash equivalents is low as they are placed with reputable fi nancial institutions.
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(c)  Liquidity Risk

 The Group’s fi nancing activities are managed centrally by maintaining an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to 

fi nance the Group’s operations. Long term borrowing is a preferred source of fi nancing to ensure continuity of funding. 

The Group also ensures availability of bank credit lines to address any short term funding requirement.

 The Group’s surplus funds are also managed by placing with reputable fi nancial institutions.

(d)  Interest Rate Risk

 The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in interest rates arises mainly from the Group’s bank borrowings, lease 

commitments and cash deposits placed with fi nancial institutions. For interest income from cash deposits, the Group 

manages the interest rate risks by placing cash deposits with reputable fi nancial institutions on varying maturities and 

interest rate terms. For interest expenses on the Group’s borrowings, the Group mitigates interest exposure by fi xing 

interest rates over longer duration through long term borrowings wherever possible.
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The directors of the company are pleased to present their report together with the audited fi nancial statements of the company 

and of the group for the fi nancial year ended 28 February 2009. 

1. Directors at Date of Report

 The directors of the company in offi ce at the date of this report are:

Liew Ham Chow

Voo Jun Hing

Chang Yeh Hong

Lee Kim Lian, Juliana

Tan Eng Liang (Appointed on 30 June 2008)

2. Arrangements to Enable Directors to Acquire Benefi ts by Means of The Acquisition of Shares and 

Debentures

 Neither at the end of the fi nancial year nor at any time during the fi nancial year did there subsist any arrangement whose 

object is to enable the directors of the company to acquire benefi ts by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures 

in the company or any other body corporate except as mentioned below.

i) Acquisition of subsidiaries

 The group acquired 100% equity interest of Jackson Vehicle Holdings Pte Ltd and subsidiaries (“JVH Group”) 

with effect from 1 March 2006, at an estimated consideration of S$8.54 million, subject to the audited net profi t 

after tax of JVH Group for the fi nancial years ended 28 February 2007 and 29 February 2008.

 S$3.11 million of the consideration were paid in cash during fi nancial year ended 28 February 2007, the remaining 

amount were payable by way of issue of shares (“Consideration Shares”) at S$0.18 per share in two tranches 

within one month after the completion of the audit of JVH Group for each of the fi nancial years ended 28 

February 2007 and 29 February 2008. During the year, 9,734,150 of Consideration Shares were issued to Liew 

Ham Chow, a director of the company, in full settlement of his share of the second tranche.

ii) Subscription agreement dated 15 February 2006 

 Pursuant to the above subscription agreement, Mr Ang Kian Lee who was a director of the company until his 

resignation on 10 February 2009, was entitled to subscribe for such number of shares in order to maintain 

his shareholdings at 5% of the total number of issued shares of the company. Consequent to the issuance of 

the above second tranche of Consideration Shares, Mr Ang Kian Lee was entitled to subscribe for 1,442,097 

number of shares in the company. Mr Ang did not take up the entitlement. 
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3. Directors’ Interests In Shares and Debentures

 The directors of the company holding offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year had no interests in the share capital of the 

company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors' shareholdings kept by the company under 

section 164 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 except as follows:

Direct interest Deemed interest

Name of directors and companies

in which interest are held

At beginning

of year 

At end

of year

At beginning

of year 

At end

of year

The company Number of shares of no par value

Liew Ham Chow 35,994,695 45,728,845 20,020,000  20,020,000  

Voo Jun Hing 980,000 980,000 –  –  

Chang Yeh Hong 200,000 –  –  200,000

  By virtue of section 7 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, Liew Ham Chow is deemed to have an interest in all the related 

corporations of the company.

 The directors’ interests as at 21 March 2009 were the same as those at the end of the year.

4. Contractual Benefi ts of Directors

  Since the beginning of the fi nancial year, no director of the company has received or become entitled to receive a benefi t 

which is required to be disclosed under section 201(8) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, by reason of a contract made 

by the company or a related corporation with the director or with a fi rm of which he is a member, or with a company in 

which he has a substantial fi nancial interest.

 There were certain transactions (shown in the fi nancial statements under related party transactions) with corporations 

in which certain directors have an interest.

5. Options to Take Up Unissued Shares

 During the fi nancial year, no option to take up unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the group was 

granted.

6. Options Exercised

 During the fi nancial year, there were no shares of the company or any corporation in the group issued by virtue of the 

exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.
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7. Unissued Shares Under Option

 At the end of the fi nancial year, there were no unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the group under 

option.

8. Audit Committee

   The members of the audit committee at the date of this report are as follows:

Chang Yeh Hong (Chairman)

Lee Kim Lian, Juliana

Tan Eng Liang (Appointed on 21 July 2008)

  The audit committee performs the functions specifi ed by section 201B(5) of the Companies Act. Among others, it 

performed the following functions:

• Reviewed with the independent external auditors their audit plan;

• Reviewed with the independent external auditors their report on the fi nancial statements and the assistance 

given by the company’s offi cers to them;

• Reviewed with the internal auditors the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;

• Reviewed the fi nancial statements of the group and the company prior to their submission to the directors of the 

company for adoption; and 

• Reviewed the interested person transactions (as defi ned in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of SGX).

  Other functions performed by the audit committee are described in the report on corporate governance included in the 

annual report. It also includes an explanation of how independent auditor objectivity and independence is safeguarded 

where the independent auditors provide non-audit services.

  The audit committee has recommended to the board of directors that the independent auditors, RSM Chio Lim LLP, be 

nominated for re-appointment as independent auditors at the next annual general meeting of the company.

9.  Independent Auditors

 The independent auditors, RSM Chio Lim LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment. 
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10. Subsequent Developments

   There are no signifi cant developments subsequent to the release of the group’s and the company’s preliminary fi nancial 

statements, as announced on 28 April 2009, which would materially affect the group’s and the company’s operating 

and fi nancial performance as of the date of this report.

On Behalf of the Directors

...........................................………....

Liew Ham Chow 

Director

...........................................………....

Voo Jun Hing

Director

21 May 2009
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In the opinion of the directors, the fi nancial statements set out on pages 33 to 86 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair 

view of the state of affairs of the group and of the company as at 28 February 2009 and the results, changes in equity and cash 

fl ows of the group and the changes in equity of the company for the year ended on that date and at the date of this statement 

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

On Behalf of the Directors

...........................................………....

Liew Ham Chow 

Director

...........................................………....

Voo Jun Hing

Director

21 May 2009 

Statement by Directors



Jackspeed Corporation Limited    Annual Report 2009  |  31

We have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements of Jackspeed Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries (the group), 

which comprise the balance sheets of the group and the company as at 28 February 2009, and the income statement, 

statement of changes in equity and cash fl ow statement of the group, and statement of changes in equity of the company for 

the year then ended, and a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these fi nancial statements in accordance with the 

provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (“the Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility 

includes: 

(a) devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls suffi cient to provide a reasonable assurance that 

assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and 

that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair income statement and balance sheets and 

to maintain accountability of assets; 

(b) selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 

(c) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Independent Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 

of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 

control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 

internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Members of Jackspeed Corporation Limited (Registration No: 199300300W)  
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Opinion

In our opinion,

(a) the consolidated fi nancial statements of the group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the 

company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting 

Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the company as at 28 February 

2009 and the results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the group and the changes in equity of the company for the 

year ended on that date; and

(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the company and by those subsidiaries incorporated 

in Singapore of which we are the independent auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the 

Act.

RSM Chio Lim LLP

Public Accountants and

Certifi ed Public Accountants

Singapore

21 May 2009

Partner in charge of audit: Chia Meng Ru

Effective from year ended 29 February 2008
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Group

Notes 2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Revenue 5 34,845 46,059

Other Items of Income

Interest Income 6 105 229

Other Credits 7 54 21

Other Items of Expense

Raw Material Used and Sub-Contractors Charges (16,190) (29,465)

Changes in Inventories (3,504) 4,710

Employee Benefi ts Expense 10 (9,878) (11,045)

Depreciation and Amortisation Expense (1,110) (1,297)

Finance Costs 8 (132) (171)

Other Expenses 9 (5,040) (4,822)

Other Charges 7 (7,397) (32)

Share of Loss from Equity-Accounted Associates (304) (388)

(Loss) / Profi t Before Tax From Continuing Operations (8,551) 3,799

Income Tax Expense 11 (154) (1,081)

(Loss) / Profi t From Continuing Operations, Net of Tax (8,705) 2,718

(Loss) / Profi t Attributable to the Owners of Parent, Net of Tax (8,466) 2,905

Loss Attributable to Minority Interest, Net of Tax (239) (187)

(8,705) 2,718

Earnings Per Share 12

Earnings Per Share Currency Unit Cents Cents

Basic

Continuing Operations (4.35) 1.58

Diluted

Continuing Operations (4.35) 1.58

Consolidated Income Statement
Year Ended 28 February 2009

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
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Group Company

Notes 2009 2008 2009 2008

ASSETS $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Non-Current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 14 8,076 8,449 2,393 2,574

Intangible Assets 15 300 6,155 – –  

Investments in Subsidiaries 16 – –  7,611 12,607

Investments in Associates 17 – 411 – 260

Deferred Tax Assets 11 9 – – – 

Total Non-Current Assets 8,385 15,015 10,004 15,441

Current Assets

Inventories 18 7,759 11,263 3,700 4,786

Trade and Other Receivables 19 4,253 8,390 3,580 7,916

Other Assets 20 629 1,132 77 66

Cash and Cash Equivalents 21 11,958 11,412 6,800 5,801

Total Current Assets 24,599 32,197 14,157 18,569

Total Assets 32,984 47,212 24,161 34,010

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share Capital 22 28,003 24,109 28,003 24,109

(Accumulated Losses) / Retained Earnings (569) 8,647 (6,313) 390

Other Reserves 23 (308) 249 – –  

Equity, Attributable to Equity 

Holders of the Parent

27,126 33,005 21,690 24,499

Minority Interest 431 670 –  –   

Total Equity 27,557 33,675 21,690 24,499

Non-Current Liabilities

Deferred Tax Liabilities 11 288 572 40 40

Finance Leases 25 46 131 22 59

Other Financial Liabilities 26 651 751 – –  

Total Non-Current Liabilities 985 1,454 62 99

Current Liabilities

Income Tax Payable 128 697 4 157

Trade and Other Payables 24 3,947 10,562 2,367 9,217

Finance Leases 25 90 122 38 38

Other Financial Liabilities 26 277 702 – –  

Total Current Liabilities 4,442  12,083 2,409 9,412

Total Liabilities 5,427 13,537 2,471 9,511

Total Equity and Liabilities 32,984 47,212 24,161 34,010

Balance Sheets
As at 28 February 2009 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
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(Accumulated 

losses) /

Share Other retained Parent Minority

Group capital reserves earnings Sub-total interest Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Current Year:

Opening Balance at 1 March 2008 24,109  249 8,647 33,005  670 33,675

Items of Expense Recognised Directly in Equity

Exchange Differences on 

   Translating Foreign Operations – (557) – (557) – (557) 

Net Expense Recognised Directly in Equity – (557) – (557) – (557) 

Loss for the Year – – (8,466) (8,466) (239) (8,705) 

Total Recognised Expenses for the Year – (557) (8,466) (9,023) (239) (9,262) 

Other Movements in Equity

Transactions with Equity Holders:

Issue of Share Capital (Note 22) 3,894 – – 3,894 – 3,894

Dividends Paid (Note 13) – – (750) (750) – (750) 

Total Other Movements in Equity 3,894 – (750) 3,144 – 3,144

Closing Balance at 28 February 2009 28,003 (308) (569) 27,126 431 27,557

Previous Year:

Opening Balance at 1 March 2007 21,832 168 7,618 29,618 857 30,475

Items of Income Recognised Directly in Equity

Exchange Differences on Translating 

   Foreign Operations – 81 –   81 –   81

Net Income Recognised Directly in Equity – 81 –   81 –   81

Profi t / (Loss) for the Year – – 2,905 2,905 (187) 2,718

Total Recognised Income and (Expenses) 

   for the Year –   81 2,905 2,986 (187) 2,799

Other Movements in Equity

Transactions with Equity Holders:

Issue of Share Capital (Note 22) 2,330 – – 2,330 – 2,330

Share Issue Expenses (Note 22) (53) – – (53) – (53)

Dividends Paid (Note 13) – – (1,876) (1,876) – (1,876)

Total Other Movements in Equity 2,277 – (1,876)  401 –  401

Closing Balance at 29 February 2008 24,109  249 8,647 33,005  670 33,675

Statements of Changes in Equity
Year Ended 28 February 2009

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
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(Accumulated 

losses) /

Share retained

Company capital earnings Total

$'000 $'000 $'000

Current Year:

Opening Balance at 1 March 2008 24,109  390 24,499

Loss for the Year –  (5,953) (5,953) 

Total Recognised Expense for the Year –  (5,953) (5,953) 

Other Movements in Equity

Transactions with Equity Holders:

Issue of Share Capital (Note 22) 3,894 –  3,894

Dividends Paid (Note 13) –  (750) (750) 

Total Other Movements in Equity 3,894 (750) 3,144

Closing Balance at 28 February 2009 28,003 (6,313) 21,690  

Previous Year:

Opening Balance at 1 March 2007 21,832 497 22,329

Profi t for the Year –  1,769 1,769

Total Recognised Income for the Year –  1,769 1,769

Other Movements in Equity

Transactions with Equity Holders:

Issue of Share Capital (Note 22) 2,330 –  2,330

Share Issue Expenses (Note 22) (53) –  (53)

Dividends Paid (Note 13) –  (1,876) (1,876)

Total Other Movements in Equity 2,277 (1,876) 401

Closing Balance at 29 February 2008 24,109  390 24,499

Statements of Changes in Equity
Year Ended 28 February 2009

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.



Jackspeed Corporation Limited    Annual Report 2009  |  37

 2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

(Loss) / Profi t Before Tax (8,551) 3,799

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment 810 997

Interest Income (105) (229)

Interest Expense 132 56

Impairment Losses on Goodwill and Intangible Asset 5,328  –

Goodwill Written Off 151  –

Impairment Losses on Investment in Associate 85  –

Share of Loss from Equity-Accounted Associates 304 388

Amortisation of Intangible Assets 300 300

(Gains) / Losses on Disposal of Plant and Equipment (54) 32

Imputed Interest Expense Calculated Using the Effective Interest Method  – 115

Operating Cash Flows before Changes in Working Capital (1,600) 5,458

Inventories 3,504 (4,550)

Trade and Other Receivables 4,137 (304)

Other Assets 194 (169)

Trade and Other Payables (2,776) 1,844

Net Cash Flows from Operations Before Interest and Tax 3,459 2,279

Income Taxes Paid (707) (902)

Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities 2,752 1,377

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Disposal of Plant and Equipment 171 43

Purchase of Plant and Equipment (Note 21) (792) (408)

Interest Received 105 229

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (516) (136)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Dividends Paid to Equity Shareholders (750) (1,876)

(Decrease) / Increase in Borrowings (699) 452

Issue of Shares, Net of Expenses – 529

Finance Lease Repayments (117) (108)

Interest Paid (132) (56)

Net Cash Flows Used in Financing Activities (1,698) (1,059)

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 538 182

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Cash Flow Statement, Beginning Balance 11,412 11,196

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents (166) 34

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Cash Flow Statement, Ending Balance (Note 21) 11,784 11,412

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Year Ended 28 February 2009
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1. General

  The company is incorporated in Singapore with limited liability.  The fi nancial statements are presented in Singapore 

dollars and they cover the parent and the group’s subsidiaries.  

  The fi nancial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21 May 2009.

 The principal activities of the company are those of investment holding and the manufacture and sale of leather seat 

covers. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 16 below.  

  The company is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST).

 The registered offi ce address of the company is: 47 Loyang Drive Singapore 508955. The company is domiciled in 

Singapore. 

 Many countries in the region and elsewhere, including Singapore, are experiencing economic diffi culties as a 

consequence of the current turmoil in the worldwide fi nancial markets. This has resulted in violent fl uctuations in foreign 

currency exchange rates, volatile share and commodity prices, uncertainty of the availability of bank fi nance to suppliers 

and customers and a slowdown in growth. The current fi nancial crisis has affected and will continue to have an adverse 

impact on the group’s business, fi nancial condition, results of operations, cash fl ows and prospects for the foreseeable 

future. The recoverability of the assets and the ability of the group to maintain or pay its debts as they mature are 

dependent to a large extent on the effi cacy of the fi scal and other measures undertaken by these countries to achieve 

economic recovery. These measures are beyond the company’s control.

2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies

 Accounting Convention 

 The fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”) 

as well as all related Interpretations to FRS (“INT FRS”) as issued by the Singapore Accounting Standards Council and 

the Companies Act, Cap 50. The fi nancial statements are prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost 

convention except where an FRS requires an alternative treatment (such as fair values) as disclosed where appropriate 

in these fi nancial statements.

 Basis of Presentation 

 The consolidation accounting method is used for the consolidated fi nancial statements that include the fi nancial 

statements made up to the end of each reporting year of the company and all of its directly and indirectly controlled 

subsidiaries. Consolidated fi nancial statements are the fi nancial statements of the group presented as those of a 

single economic entity. The consolidated fi nancial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like 

transactions and other events in similar circumstances. All signifi cant intra group balances and transactions, including 

income, expenses and dividends, are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
28 February 2009
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2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

 Basis of Presentation (Cont’d)

 The equity accounting method is used for associates in the group fi nancial statements. The results of the investees 

acquired or disposed of during the fi nancial year are accounted for from the respective dates of acquisition or up to 

the dates of disposal which is the date on which effective control is obtained of the acquired business until that control 

ceases. On disposal, the attributable amount of goodwill, if any, is included in the determination of the gain or loss on 

disposal.  

 The company's fi nancial statements have been prepared on the same basis, and as permitted by the Companies Act, 

Cap. 50, no income statement is presented for the company.

 

 Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements

 The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires the 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure 

of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the fi nancial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 

expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The estimates and assumptions 

are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Apart from those involving estimations, management has made judgements in 

the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies. The areas requiring management’s most diffi cult, subjective 

or complex judgements, or areas where assumptions and estimates are signifi cant to the fi nancial statements, are 

disclosed at the end of this footnote, where applicable. 

  Revenue Recognition 

  The revenue amount is the fair value of the consideration received or receivable from the gross infl ow of economic 

benefi ts during the year arising from the course of the ordinary activities of the entity and it is shown net of any related 

sales taxes, estimated returns, discounts and volume rebates. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when 

signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer, there is neither continuing managerial involvement 

to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold, and the amount of revenue 

and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. Revenue from rendering 

of services that are of short duration is recognised when the services are completed. Interest is recognised using the 

effective interest method. Dividend from equity instruments is recognised as income when the entity’s right to receive 

payment is established. 

  Employee Benefi ts  

  Contributions to defi ned contribution retirement benefi t plans are recorded as an expense as they fall due.  The entity's 

legal or constructive obligation is limited to the amount that it agrees to contribute to an independently administered fund 

which is the Central Provident Fund in Singapore (a government managed retirement benefi t plan).  For employee leave 

entitlement the expected cost of short-term employee benefi ts in the form of compensated absences is recognised in 

the case of accumulating compensated absences, when the employees render service that increases their entitlement 

to future compensated absences; and in the case of non-accumulating compensated absences, when the absences 

occur. A liability for bonuses is recognised where the entity is contractually obliged or where there is constructive 

obligation based on past practice. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
28 February 2009  
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2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

  Income Tax 

  The income taxes are accounted using the asset and liability method that requires the recognition of taxes payable or 

refundable for the current year and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequence of events that have 

been recognised in the fi nancial statements or tax returns. The measurements of current and deferred tax liabilities and 

assets are based on provisions of the enacted or substantially enacted tax laws; the effects of future changes in tax 

laws or rates are not anticipated. Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised in the income statement except that when they relate to items that 

initially bypass the income statement and are taken to equity, in which case they are similarly taken to equity.  

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same income tax authority. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each end of the reporting year and is reduced, if necessary, 

by the amount of any tax benefi ts that, based on available evidence, are not expected to be realised. A deferred tax 

amount is recognised for all temporary differences, unless the deferred tax amount arises from the initial recognition of 

an asset or liability in a transaction which (i) is not a business combination; and (ii) at the time of the transaction, affects 

neither accounting profi t nor taxable profi t (tax loss). A deferred tax liability is not recognised for all taxable temporary 

differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates because (a) the company is able to control the 

timing of the reversal of the temporary difference; and (b) it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in 

the foreseeable future.

 Foreign Currency Transactions 

 The functional currency is the Singapore dollar as it refl ects the primary economic environment in which the entity 

operates. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the functional currency at the rates ruling at the dates of the 

transactions. At each end of the reporting year, recorded monetary balances and balances measured at fair value that 

are denominated in non-functional currencies are reported at the rates ruling at the balance sheet and fair value dates 

respectively. All realised and unrealised exchange adjustment gains and losses are dealt with in the income statement 

except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash fl ow hedges. The presentation is in the functional currency. 

  Translation of Financial Statements of Other Entities

  Each entity in the group determines the appropriate functional currency as it refl ects the primary economic environment 

in which the entity operates. In translating the fi nancial statements of an investee for incorporation in the consolidated 

fi nancial statements the assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the 

group are translated at year end rates of exchange and the income and expense items are translated at average 

rates of exchange for the year. The components of shareholders’ equity are stated at historical value. The resulting 

translation adjustments (if any) are accumulated in a separate component of equity until the disposal of that investee. 

The presentation is in the functional currency.

Notes to the Financial Statements
28 February 2009
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2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

 Borrowing Costs 

 All borrowing costs that are interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset that necessarily take a substantial period 

of time to get ready for their intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until substantially all the 

activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are complete. Other borrowing costs are 

recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.  The interest expense is calculated using the effective 

interest rate method.

 Property, Plant and Equipment

 

 Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis to allocate the gross carrying amounts less their residual values over 

their estimated useful lives of each part of an item of these assets. The annual rates of depreciation are as follows:

 Freehold land and buildings – 2%

 Leasehold land and buildings – Over the terms of lease that is 2%

 Plant and Equipment  – 16.67% to 100%

  An asset is depreciated when it is available for use until it is derecognised even if during that period the item is idle. Fully 

depreciated assets still in use are retained in the fi nancial statements.

 Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost on initial recognition and after initial recognition at cost less any 

accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses except for the revalued items as described below. 

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the 

difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item and is recognised in the 

income statement. The residual value and the useful life of an asset is reviewed at least at each fi nancial year-end and, 

if expectations differ signifi cantly from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in an accounting 

estimate, and the depreciation charge for the current and future periods are adjusted. 

 Cost also includes acquisition cost, any cost directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  Subsequent cost are recognised 

as an asset only when it is probable that future economic benefi ts associated with the item will fl ow to the entity and 

the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement 

when they are incurred. 

 If fair value can be measured reliably, after the initial recognition as an asset at cost, an item of property, plant and 

equipment (such as land, property, buildings, etc) is carried at a revalued amount, being its fair value at the date 

of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 

Revaluations are made with suffi cient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that 

which would be determined using fair value at the end of the reporting year and the entire class of property, plant and 

equipment to which that asset belongs is revalued.

Notes to the Financial Statements
28 February 2009  
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2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

 Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d)

 When an asset’s carrying amount is increased, the increase is credited directly to equity under the heading revaluation 

surplus except that the increase is recognised in the income statement to the extent that it reverses a revaluation 

decrease of the same asset previously recognised in the income statement. When an asset’s carrying amount is 

decreased, the decrease is recognised in the income statement except that a revaluation decrease is debited directly 

to equity under the heading of revaluation surplus to the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus 

in respect of that asset.  The revaluation surplus included in equity is transferred directly to retained earnings when the 

asset is derecognised. When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the 

date of the revaluation is restated proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the 

carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its revalued amount. 

 Leased Assets

  Leases are classifi ed as fi nance leases if substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the 

lessee. All other leases are classifi ed as operating leases. At the commencement of the lease term, a fi nance lease is 

recognised as an asset and as a liability in the balance sheet at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if 

lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The discount 

rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease, if this is 

practicable to determine, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used. Any initial direct costs of the lessee are added 

to the amount recognised as an asset. The excess of the lease payments over the recorded lease liability are treated 

as fi nance charges which are allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate 

of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the periods in which 

they are incurred. The assets are depreciated as owned depreciable assets. Leases where the lessor effectively retains 

substantially all the risks and benefi ts of ownership of the leased assets are classifi ed as operating leases. For operating 

leases, lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of 

the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is representative of the time pattern of the user's benefi t, even if the 

payments are not on that basis. Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an integral part 

of the total lease expense. 

 Segment Reporting

  A business segment is a distinguishable component of an enterprise that is engaged in providing an individual product 

or service or a group of related products or services and that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those 

of other business segments. A geographical segment is a distinguishable component that is engaged in providing 

products or services within a particular economic environment and that is subject to risks and returns that are different 

from those of components operating in other economic environments.  

Notes to the Financial Statements
28 February 2009
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2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

  Intangible Assets 

  An identifi able non-monetary asset without physical substance is recognised as an intangible asset at acquisition cost if 

it is probable that the expected future economic benefi ts that are attributable to the asset will fl ow to the entity and the 

cost of the asset can be measured reliably.  After initial recognition, an intangible asset with fi nite useful life is carried at 

cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. An intangible asset with an indefi nite 

useful life is not amortised. An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefi nite useful life when, based on an analysis 

of all of the relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net 

cash infl ows for the entity.  

 The amortisable amount of an intangible asset with fi nite useful life is allocated on a systematic basis over the best 

estimate of its useful life from the point at which the asset is ready for use. The customer base is amortised over 10 

years.

  

 Subsidiaries 

 A subsidiary is an entity including unincorporated and special purpose entity that is controlled by the group. Control is the 

power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefi ts from its activities accompanying 

a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights or the ability to appoint or remove the majority of the members 

of the board of directors or to cast the majority of votes at meetings of the board of directors. The existence and effect 

of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the group 

controls another entity. 

 In the company’s own separate fi nancial statements, the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any provision 

for impairment in value. Impairment loss recognised in income statement for a subsidiary is reversed only if there has 

been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 

recognised. The net book values of the subsidiaries are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that would be realised 

in a current market exchange.

 Associates 

 An associate is an entity including an unincorporated entity in which the investor has a substantial fi nancial interest 

(usually not less than 20% of the voting power), signifi cant infl uence and that is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture 

of the investor.  Signifi cant infl uence is the power to participate in the fi nancial and operating policy decisions of the 

investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. The investments in associates are carried in the group 

balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the group’s share of net assets of the associate, less any 

impairment in value. The income statement refl ects the group’s share of the results of operations of the associate. The 

group’s investment in its associate includes goodwill on acquisition, which is accounted for in accordance with FRS 103 

Business Combinations. However the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested under FRS 36 for impairment, 

by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount, 

whenever application of the requirements in FRS 39 indicates that the investment may be impaired. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
28 February 2009  
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2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

 Associates (Cont’d)

 Profi ts and losses resulting from transactions between the group and an associate are recognised in the fi nancial 

statements only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 

unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Losses of associates in excess 

of the group interest in the relevant entity are not recognised except to the extent that the group has an obligation. 

Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted 

by the group.

 In the company’s own separate fi nancial statements, the investments in associates are stated at cost less any provision 

for impairment in value. Impairment loss recognised in income statement for an associate is reversed only if there has 

been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 

recognised. The net book values of the associates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that would be realised 

in a current market exchange.

 Business Combinations 

 Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. There were none during the year.   

 Minority Interest 

 The minority interest in the net assets and net results of consolidated subsidiary are shown separately in the consolidated 

balance sheet and consolidated income statement. Any minority interest in the acquiree (subsidiary) is initially measured 

at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

  Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, an annual impairment test is performed at the same time 

every year on an intangible asset with an indefi nite useful life or an intangible asset not yet available for use. The carrying 

amount of other non-fi nancial assets is reviewed at each reporting date for indications of impairment and where an asset 

is impaired, it is written down through the income statement to its estimated recoverable amount. The impairment loss 

is the excess of the carrying amount over the recoverable amount and is recognised in the income statement unless the 

relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value 

in use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the asset. For 

the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifi able 

cash fl ows (cash-generating units). At each reporting date non-fi nancial assets other than goodwill with impairment loss 

recognised in prior periods are assessed for possible reversal of the impairment. An impairment loss is reversed only to 

the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 

of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
28 February 2009
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2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets (Cont’d)

 However, an impairment loss on a revalued asset is recognised directly against any revaluation surplus for the asset to 

the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same asset.

 Goodwill

 Goodwill is initially measured at its cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the acquirer’s 

interest in the net fair value of the identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised at fair value as part of 

the business combination process. After initial recognition, goodwill acquired in a business combination is measured at 

cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised. 

 Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, goodwill (and also an intangible asset with an indefi nite useful 

life or an intangible asset not yet available for use and other indefi nite life intangible assets) are tested for impairment, at 

least annually. Goodwill impairment is not reversed in any circumstances. 

 For the purpose of impairment testing and since the acquisition date of the business combination, goodwill is allocated 

to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefi t from the synergies of the 

combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree were assigned to those units or groups 

of units.  Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated represent the lowest level within the entity at 

which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and is not larger than a segment. 

  Financial Assets

 Initial recognition and measurement and derecognition of fi nancial assets:

  A fi nancial asset is recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the entity becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument.  The initial recognition of fi nancial assets is at fair value normally represented by the 

transaction price. The transaction price for fi nancial asset not classifi ed at fair value through profi t and loss includes the 

transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the fi nancial asset. Transaction costs incurred 

on the acquisition or issue of fi nancial assets classifi ed at fair value through profi t and loss are expensed immediately. 

The transactions are recorded at the trade date. 

  Irrespective of the legal form of the transactions performed, fi nancial assets are derecognised when they pass the 

“substance over form” based on derecognition test prescribed by FRS 39 relating to the transfer of risks and rewards 

of ownership and the transfer of control. 
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2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

 Financial Assets (Cont’d)

 Subsequent measurement:

  Subsequent measurement based on the classifi cation of the fi nancial assets in one of the following four categories 

under FRS 39 is as follows:

1. Financial assets at fair value through profi t and loss: As at year end date there were no fi nancial assets classifi ed 

in this category.

2. Loans and receivables: Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market. Assets that are for sale immediately or in the near term are 

not classifi ed in this category. These assets are carried at amortised costs using the effective interest method 

(except that short-duration receivables with no stated interest rate are normally measured at original invoice 

amount unless the effect of imputing interest would be signifi cant) minus any reduction (directly or through the 

use of an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility. Impairment charges are provided only when 

there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred as a result of one or more events that 

occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on 

the estimated future cash fl ows of the fi nancial asset or group of fi nancial assets that can be reliably estimated. 

The methodology ensures that an impairment loss is not recognised on the initial recognition of an asset.  Losses 

expected as a result of future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised. For impairment, the carrying 

amount of the asset is reduced through use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised 

in the income statement. An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event 

occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. Typically the trade and other receivables are classifi ed in this 

category. 

3. Held-to-maturity fi nancial assets: As at year end date there were no fi nancial assets classifi ed in this category.

4. Available for sale fi nancial assets: As at year end date there were no fi nancial assets classifi ed in this category.

  Cash and Cash Equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalents include bank and cash balances, on demand deposits and any highly liquid debt instruments 

purchased with an original maturity of three months or less.  For the cash fl ow statement the item includes cash and 

cash equivalents less cash subject to restriction and bank overdrafts payable on demand that form an integral part of 

cash management.
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2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

 Financial Liabilities

  Initial recognition and measurement:

  A fi nancial liability is recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the entity becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument.  The initial recognition of fi nancial liability is at fair value normally represented by the 

transaction price. The transaction price for fi nancial liability not classifi ed at fair value through profi t and loss includes 

the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the fi nancial liability. Transaction costs 

incurred on the acquisition or issue of fi nancial liability classifi ed at fair value through profi t and loss are expensed 

immediately. The transactions are recorded at the trade date.  Financial liabilities including bank and other borrowings 

are classifi ed as current liabilities unless there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 

months after the end of the reporting year. 

  Subsequent measurement:

  Subsequent measurement based on the classifi cation of the fi nancial liabilities in one of the following two categories 

under FRS 39 is as follows:

1. Liabilities at fair value through profi t and loss: As at year end date there were no fi nancial liabilities classifi ed in 

this category.

2. Other fi nancial liabilities: All liabilities, which have not been classifi ed in the previous category fall into this residual 

category. These liabilities are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Trade and other 

payables and borrowings are classifi ed in this category. Items classifi ed within current trade and other payables 

are not usually re-measured, as the obligation is usually known with a high degree of certainty and settlement is 

short-term. 

  Financial Guarantees 

  A fi nancial guarantee contract requires that the issuer makes specifi ed payments to reimburse the holder for a loss 

when a specifi ed debtor fails to make payment when due.  Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised at fair 

value and are subsequently measured at the greater of (a) the amount determined in accordance with FRS 37 and (b) 

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with FRS 

18. 
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2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

  Fair Value of Financial Instruments

  The carrying values of current fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-term 

maturity of these instruments. Disclosures of fair value are not made when the carrying amount of current fi nancial 

instruments is a reasonable approximation of fair value. The fair values of non-current fi nancial instruments may not be 

disclosed separately unless there are signifi cant items at the end of the reporting year and in the event the fair values 

are disclosed in the relevant notes. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of the fi nancial instruments at 

the end of the reporting year. The fair value of a fi nancial instrument is derived from an active market. The appropriate 

quoted market price for an asset held or liability to be issued is usually the current bid price without any deduction for 

transaction costs that may be incurred on sale or other disposal and, for an asset to be acquired or liability held, the 

asking price. As far as unquoted equity instruments are concerned, in cases where it is not possible to reliably measure 

the fair value, such instruments are carried at cost less accumulated allowance for impairment.

  Inventories

  Inventories are measured at the lower of cost (fi rst in fi rst out method) and net realisable value. Net realisable value is 

the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated 

costs necessary to make the sale. A write down on cost is made for where the cost is not recoverable or if the selling 

prices have declined. Cost includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the 

inventories to their present location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost 

includes an appropriate share of overheads based on normal operating capacity.

  Equity

  Equity instruments are contracts that give a residual interest in the net assets of the company. Ordinary shares are 

classifi ed as equity. Equity instruments are recognised at the amount of proceeds received net of incremental costs 

directly attributable to the transaction. Dividends on equity are recognised as liabilities when they are declared. Interim 

dividends are recognised when paid.  

 Provisions

  A liability or provision is recognised when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 

it is probable that an outfl ow of resources embodying economic benefi ts will be required to settle the obligation and a 

reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are made using best estimates of the amount 

required in settlement and where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount recognised is the present 

value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that refl ects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to 

passage of time is recognised as interest expense.  Changes in estimates are refl ected in the income statement in the 

period they occur. 
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2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

 Critical Judgements, Assumptions and Estimation Uncertainties

 The critical judgements made in the process of applying the accounting policies that have the most signifi cant effect 

on the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements and the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key 

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting year, that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year are discussed below.  These 

estimates and assumptions are periodically monitored to ensure they incorporate all relevant information available at the 

date when fi nancial statements are prepared. However, this does not prevent actual fi gures differing from estimates.

  Consolidation of Thailand entity as subsidiary: 

  The paid up share capital of the subsidiary, J.V. (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (“JVT”), acquired on 1 March 2006, is made up of 

Baht 10 million of ordinary shares and Baht 10.41 million of preference shares. The group holds an effective interest of 

49% through holding all of the ordinary shares with voting rights. A local Thai national holds the remaining 51% through 

preference shares with no voting rights. The preference shareholder is entitled to a fi xed dividend of 5% of the preference 

shares value per year. Accordingly, management considers JVT a subsidiary and the group has consolidated 100% of 

the profi ts of JVT (net of the preferential dividends) into the group’s fi nancial statements from the date of acquisition.

 Allowance for doubtful accounts: 

 An allowance is made for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the subsequent inability of the customers 

to make required payments. If the fi nancial conditions of the customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of 

their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required in future periods. Management generally analyses 

accounts receivables and analyses historical bad debt, customer concentrations, customer creditworthiness, current 

economic trends and changes in customer payment terms when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful 

accounts. To the extent that it is feasible impairment and uncollectibility is determined individually for each item. In cases 

where that process is not feasible, a collective evaluation of impairment is performed. At the end of the reporting year, 

the receivables carrying amount approximates the fair value and the carrying amounts might change materially within 

the next fi nancial year but these changes would not arise from assumptions or other sources of estimation uncertainty 

at the end of the reporting year.

 Net realisable value of inventories: 

 A review is made periodically on inventory for excess inventory, obsolescence and declines in net realisable value 

below cost and an allowance is recorded against the inventory balance for any such declines. These reviews require 

management to consider the future demand for the products. In any case the realisable value represents the best 

estimate of the recoverable amount and is based on the most reliable evidence available at the end of the reporting 

year and inherently involves estimates regarding the future expected realisable value. The usual considerations for 

determining the amount of allowance or write-down include ageing analysis, technical assessment and subsequent 

events. In general, such an evaluation process requires signifi cant judgment and materially affects the carrying amount 

of inventories at the end of the reporting year. Possible changes in these estimates could result in revisions to the stated 

value of the inventories.  The carrying amount of inventories at the end of the reporting year was $7,759,000.
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2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

 Critical Judgements, Assumptions and Estimation Uncertainties (Cont’d)

 Deferred tax estimation:

 Management judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities 

and the extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised. A deferred tax asset is recognised if it is probable that 

suffi cient taxable income will be available in the future against which the temporary differences and unused tax losses 

can be utilised. Management also considers future taxable income and tax planning strategies in assessing whether 

deferred tax assets should be recognised in order to refl ect changed circumstances as well as tax regulations. As a 

result, due to their inherent nature, it is likely that deferred tax calculation relates to complex fact patterns for which 

assessments of likelihood are judgmental and not susceptible to precise determination. The amount of the deferred tax 

assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting year was $9,000 and $288,000 respectively.

 Property, plant and equipment: 

 The group has properties, plant and equipment stated at carrying value of $8,076,000. An assessment is made at 

each reporting date whether there is any indication that the asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, an 

estimate is made of the recoverable amount of the asset. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been 

determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates. If the revised estimated 

gross margin is less favourable than that used in the calculations there would be a need to provide for impairment. It is 

impracticable to disclose the extent of the possible effects. It is reasonably possible, based on existing knowledge, that 

outcomes within the next fi nancial year that are different from assumptions could require a material adjustment to the 

carrying amount of the balances affected. The carrying amount of the class of assets at the end of the reporting year 

affected by the assumption is $2,021,000.

 Useful lives of plant and equipment:     

 The estimates for the useful lives and related depreciation charges for plant and equipment is based on commercial 

and production factors which could change signifi cantly as a result of technical innovations and competitor actions in 

response to severe market conditions. The depreciation charge is increased where useful lives are less than previously 

estimated lives, or the carrying amounts written off or written down for technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that 

have been abandoned or sold. It is impracticable to disclose the extent of the possible effects. It is reasonably possible, 

based on existing knowledge, that outcomes within the next fi nancial year that are different from assumptions could 

require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the balances affected. The carrying amount of the class of 

assets at the end of the reporting year affected by the assumption is $1,517,000.

 Estimated impairment of subsidiary or associate 

 When a subsidiary or associate is in net equity defi cit and has suffered operating losses, a test is made whether 

the investment in the investee has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the stated accounting policy. This 

determination requires signifi cant judgement. An estimate is made of the future profi tability of the investee, and the 

fi nancial health of and near-term business outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector 

performance, and operational and fi nancing cash fl ow. The amounts of the relevant investments are $121,000 at the 

end of the reporting year. It is impracticable to disclose the extent of the possible effects.  It is reasonably possible, 

based on existing knowledge, that outcomes within the next fi nancial year that are different from assumptions could 

require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected.
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2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

 Critical Judgements, Assumptions and Estimation Uncertainties (Cont’d)

 Estimated impairment of intangible assets: 

 An assessment is made annually whether intangible assets has suffered any impairment loss, based on the recoverable 

amounts of the cash generating units (“CGU”). The recoverable amounts of the CGUs was determined based on value 

in use calculations and these calculations require the use of estimates in relation to future cash fl ows and suitable 

discount rates as disclosed in Note 15.

3. Related Party Transactions

 FRS 24 defi nes a related party as an entity or person that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries 

controls, is controlled by, or is under common or joint control with, the entity in governing the fi nancial and operating 

policies, or that has an interest in the entity that gives it signifi cant infl uence over the entity in fi nancial and operating 

decisions. It also includes members of the key management personnel or close members of the family of any individual 

referred to herein and others who have the ability to control, jointly control or signifi cantly infl uence by or for which 

signifi cant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any such individual. The defi nition includes 

parents, subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and post-employment benefi t plans, if any. 

3.1 Related companies:

  There are transactions and arrangements between the company and members of the group and the effects of these 

on the basis determined between the parties are refl ected in these fi nancial statements. The current intercompany 

balances are unsecured without fi xed repayment terms and interest unless stated otherwise.  For non-current balances 

if signifi cant an interest is imputed unless stated otherwise based on the prevailing market interest rate for similar debt 

less the interest rate if any provided in the agreement for the balance. For fi nancial guarantees a fair value is imputed 

and is recognised accordingly if signifi cant where no charge is payable.

 Intragroup transactions and balances that have been eliminated in these consolidated fi nancial statements are not 

disclosed as related party transactions and balances below.
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3. Related Party Transactions (Cont’d)

3.2 Other related parties:

  There are transactions and arrangements between the company and related parties and the effects of these on the 

basis determined between the parties are refl ected in these fi nancial statements. The current related party balances are 

unsecured without fi xed repayment terms and interest unless stated otherwise.  For non-current balances if signifi cant 

an interest is imputed unless stated otherwise based on the prevailing market interest rate for similar debt less the 

interest rate if any provided in the agreement for the balance. For fi nancial guarantees a fair value is imputed and is 

recognised accordingly if signifi cant where no charge is payable. 

 Signifi cant related party transactions:

 In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the fi nancial statements, this item 

includes the following:

Associates

Group 2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Rental expense (24) (23)

Management fee revenue 12 28

Purchases of goods and plant and equipment (626) (1,673)

Director 

Group and Company 2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Consultancy fee paid to an ex-director 30 38

3.3 Key management compensation:

Group

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefi ts 1,818 2,012

  The above amounts are included under employee benefi ts expense.  Included in the above amounts are the following 

items:

Group

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Remuneration of directors of the company 501 676

Fees to directors of the company 108 112
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3. Related Party Transactions (Cont’d)

3.3 Key management compensation (Cont’d):

 Further information about the remuneration of individual directors is provided in the report on corporate governance.

 Key management personnel are the directors and those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the activities of the company, directly or indirectly. The above amounts for key management 

compensation are for all the directors and other key management personnel.

3.4 Other receivables from and other payables to related parties:

 The trade transactions and the trade receivables and payables balances arising from sales and purchases of goods and 

services are disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the fi nancial statements.

 The movements in other receivables from and other payables to related parties (before allowance for impairment) are as 

follows:

Associates Related parties

Group 2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Other receivables / (other payables):

Balance at beginning of year 683 257 (5) 105

Amounts paid out and settlement of liabilities 

   on behalf of another party – 426 – –

Amounts received and settlement of liabilities 

   on behalf of the company (832) – (87) (110)

Balance at end of year (149) 683 (92) (5)

Subsidiaries

Company 2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Other receivables / (other payables):

Balance at beginning of year 4,374 2,557

Amounts paid out and settlement of liabilities on behalf of another party 2,110 3,995

Amounts received and settlement of liabilities on behalf of the company (4,353) (2,178)

Balance at end of year 2,131 4,374
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4. Financial Information by Segments

 The primary reporting format is by business segment and the second reporting format is by geographical area.

 Primary Analysis by Business Segment

  The group’s operating businesses are currently organised according to their nature of business activities. Such structural 

organisation is determined by the nature of risks and returns associated to each business segment and defi nes the 

management structure as well as the internal reporting system. These are grouped into the following two product 

divisions and represents the basis on which the management reports its segment information:-

(a) Leather segment – This segment comprises sales of leather trim to car distributors and dealers, automobile, 

marine and aviation manufacturers; 

(b) Accessories segment – This comprises sales of accessories to car distributors and dealers and Original 

Equipment Manufacturers in the automobile and aviation industries.

 Segment information about these businesses is presented below:

Leather Accessories Grand total

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Continuing Operations $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue 19,519 23,674 15,326 22,385 34,845 46,059

Operating (Loss) / Profi t (793) 1,868 (5,727) 2,272 (6,520) 4,140

Interest Income 105 229

Finance Costs (132) (171)

Other Charges (1,700) (11)

Share of Loss from 

   Equity-Accounted Associates (304) (388)

(Loss) / Profi t before Tax from 

   Continuing Operations (8,551) 3,799

Income Tax Expense (154) (1,081)

(Loss) / Profi t from Continuing 

   Operations, Net of Tax (8,705) 2,718

(Loss) / Profi t from Continuing 

   Operations, Net of Tax (8,705) 2,718

Minority Interests 239 187

(Loss) / Profi t Attributable to the 

   Owners of Parent, Net of Tax (8,466) 2,905

Total Assets 25,748 30,700 7,236 16,512 32,984 47,212

Total Liabilities 3,284 10,138 2,143 3,399 5,427 13,537
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4. Financial Information by Segments (Cont’d)

Leather Accessories Grand total

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Sundry Segment Disclosures $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Impairment loss on goodwill and 

   intangibles, and goodwill written off 151 –  5,328 –  5,479 –  

Depreciation and amortisation 628 773 482 524 1,110 1,297

Capital expenditure 198 192 594 290 792 482

 Secondary Analysis by Geographical Area

 The group’s main operations are located in Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia and Thailand. 

 Revenues are attributed to countries on the basis of the customer’s location.

Revenue 2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Singapore 13,283 16,424

Europe (1) 4,579 6,443

Malaysia 1,407 1,430

Thailand 13,347 19,689

Others (2) 2,229 2,073

34,845 46,059

 The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segment assets, and additions to property, plant and equipment 

and intangible assets, analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are located: -

Segment Assets Capital Expenditure

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Singapore 19,426 22,079 78 228

Europe (1) 56 94 4 2

Malaysia 9,067 10,365 38 68

Thailand 3,814 10,806 546 181

Others (2) 621 3,868 126 3

32,984 47,212 792 482

(1) Comprises mainly of Denmark, Holland, Ireland, Sweden and UK.  
(2) Comprises mainly of Australia, Indonesia, Japan, Mauritius, Sri Lanka and Vietnam.

 Revenues from top two customers of the group represent approximately $12,366,000 (2008: $18,688,000) and 

$4,016,000 (2008: $4,814,000) of the group’s total revenue respectively.
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5. Revenue

Group 

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Sale of goods 34,007 45,198

Rendering of service 620 487

Sundry income 218 374

34,845 46,059

6. Interest Income

Group 

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Interest income 105 229

7. Other Credits and (Other Charges)

Group 

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Foreign exchange adjustment (losses) / gains (539) 21

Allowance for impairment on inventories (164) –

Allowance for impairment on trade receivables (51) –

Bad debts written off on other receivables (1,079) –

Impairment loss on goodwill (3,528) –

Impairment loss on intangible asset (1,800) –

Impairment loss on investment in associate (85) –

Goodwill written off (151) –

Gains / (losses) on disposal of plant and equipment 54 (32)

Net 7,343 (11)

Presented in the income statement as:

Other Credits 54 21

Other Charges (7,397) (32)

Net (7,343) (11)
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8. Finance Costs

Group 

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Interest expense 132 56

Imputed interest expense calculated using the effective interest method – 115

132 171

9. Other Expenses

 The major components include the following:

Group 

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Freight charges 1,570 1,655

Rental 506 444

Legal fees 400 146

Utilities 284 305

Travelling 225 330

10. Employee Benefi ts Expense

Group 

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Employee benefi ts expense 9,185 10,522

Contributions to defi ned contribution plan 520 523

Termination benefi ts 173 – 

Total employee benefi ts expense 9,878 11,045
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11 Income Tax Expense

Group

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Current tax 447 1,029

Deferred tax (293) 52

Total income tax expense 154 1,081

 The reconciliation of income taxes below is determined by applying the Singapore corporate tax rate where the parent 

is domiciled.  The income tax expense varied from the amount of income tax (benefi ts) / expense determined by 

applying the Singapore income tax rate of 17.0 % (2008: 18.0 %) to (loss) / profi t before tax as a result of the following 

differences:

Group

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Tax rate reconciliation:

(Loss) / profi t before tax (8,551) 3,799

Add: Share of loss from equity accounted associates 304 388

(8,247) 4,187

Income tax (benefi t) / expense at the above rate (1,402) 754

Not deductible items 1,015 138

Tax exemptions (51) (80)

Deferred tax assets valuation allowance 406 11

Under adjustments to tax in respect of previous periods – 41

Foreign withholding tax expense 180 100

Effect of different tax rates in different countries 64 145

Other minor items less than 3% (58) (28)

Total income tax expense  154 1,081

Effective tax rate NM 26%

 NM – Not meaningful

 In 2009, the government enacted a change in the national income tax rate from 18.0% to 17.0%.

 There are no income tax consequences of individuals to shareholders of the company. Temporary differences arising in 

connection with interests in subsidiaries and associates are insignifi cant.
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11. Income Tax Expense (Cont’d)

  Deferred tax:

  The deferred tax amounts and movements in the year are as follows:

Balance sheet

Net change in

income statement

Group 2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Deferred tax liabilities

Excess of net book value of property, plant and 

   equipment over tax values (114) (45) 69 12

Deferred tax charge relating to the revaluation of the 

   depreciable property (123) (123) – –  

Intangible asset arising from acquisition of subsidiaries (51) (432) (381) (54)

Total deferred tax liabilities (288) (600) (312) (42) 

Deferred tax assets

Tax loss carryforwards 570 183 (387) 67

Unabsorbed capital allowances – – – 16

Total deferred tax assets 570 183 (387) 83

Net deferred tax assets / (liabilities) 282 (417) (699) 41

Deferred tax assets valuation allowance (561) (155) 406 11

Net total of deferred tax liabilities (279) (572) (293) 52

Company

Deferred tax liabilities

Excess of net book value of property, plant and 

   equipment over tax values (40) (40) – 15

Total deferred tax liabilities (40) (40) – 15

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Presented in the balance sheet as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities (288) (572) (40) (40)

Deferred tax assets 9 – – – 

(279) (572) (40) (40)

 It is impracticable to estimate the amount expected to be settled or used within one year.

  For the Singapore companies, the realisation of the future income tax benefi ts from tax loss carryforwards is available 

for an unlimited future period subject to the conditions imposed by law including the retention of majority shareholders 

as defi ned.
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12. Earnings Per Share

 The following table illustrates the numerators and denominators used to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share 

of no par value:

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Numerators: earnings attributable to equity

(Loss) / earnings attributable to equity holders of the company 

   for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share (8,466) 2,905

Number

‘ 000

Number

‘ 000

Denominators: weighted average number of equity shares

Number of ordinary shares issued at the beginning of the year 187,612 160,111

Weighted average number of new ordinary shares issued 6,875 24,061

194,487 184,172

 The weighted average number of equity shares refers to shares in circulation during the period.

 The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for diluted earnings per share.

13. Dividends on Equity Shares

Group and Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Interim exempt (one-tier) dividend paid of 0.3 cents 

   per share in 2008 – 563

Final exempt (one-tier) dividend paid of 0.4 cents

   (2008: 0.7 cents net of tax at 20%) per share 750 1,313

   750 1,876
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment

Group

Freehold 

land & 

buildings

Leasehold 

land & 

buildings

Plant and 

equipment Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost or valuation:

At 1 March 2007 2,307 3,742 6,955 13,004

Additions – 80 402 482

Disposals – – (141) (141)

Reclassifi cation from asset held for sale – 1,372 – 1,372

Foreign exchange adjustments – – 1 1

At 29 February 2008 2,307 5,194 7,217 14,718

Additions – 166 626 792

Disposals – (22) (869) (891) 

Foreign exchange adjustments (105) (64) (233) (402)

At 28 February 2009 2,202 5,274 6,741 14,217

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 March 2007 290 312 4,674 5,276

Depreciation for the year 33 75 889 997

Disposals – – (66)  (66)

Reclassifi cation from asset held for sale – 61 –   61

Foreign exchange adjustments – 1 –    1

At 29 February 2008 323 449 5,497 6,269

Depreciation for the year 32 136 642 810

Disposals – (5) (769) (774) 

Foreign exchange adjustments (15) (3) (146) (164) 

At 28 February 2009 340 577 5,224 6,141

Net book value:

At 1 March 2007 2,017 3,430 2,281 7,728

At 29 February 2008 1,984 4,745 1,720 8,449

At 28 February 2009 1,862 4,697   1,517 8,076  

Represented by:

Cost – 4,697 1,517 6,214

Valuation 1,862 – – 1,862

Total 1,862 4,697 1,517 8,076
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d)

 For the revalued freehold land and building, the carrying amount that would have been recognised had the assets been 

carried under the cost model:

Group

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Freehold land and building:

Cost 1,771 1,771

Net book value 1,526 1,624

 The freehold land and buildings was revalued by Chan Eng Choy, who is a registered valuer of Param & Associates, in 

January 2005 based on the comparison approach to refl ect the actual market state and circumstances as of the balance 

sheet date and not as of either a past or future date. Revaluations are made with suffi cient regularity based on the yearly 

desktop valuations performed by the professional valuers such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from 

that which would be determined using fair value at the balance sheet date and the entire class of property, plant and 

equipment to which that asset belongs is revalued. The surplus net of deferred tax liabilities of $316,000 was credited 

to asset revaluation reserve.

Company

Leasehold

land & 

buildings

Plant and

equipment Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Cost: 

At 1 March 2007 2,428 1,956 4,384

Additions –  29 29

Disposals –  (40) (40)

At 29 February 2008 2,428 1,945 4,373

Additions –  13 13

Disposals –  (20)  (20)

At 28 February 2009 2,428 1,938 4,366

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 March 2007 281 1,306 1,587

Depreciation for the year 47 181  228

Disposals – (16) (16)

At 29 February 2008  328 1,471 1,799

Depreciation for the year 47 146 193

Disposals – (19) (19) 

At 28 February 2009 375 1,598 1,973

Net book value:

At 1 March 2007 2,147  650 2,797

At 29 February 2008 2,100  474 2,574

At 28 February 2009 2,053 340 2,393
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d)

i) Certain items are under fi nance lease agreements (see Note 25).

ii)  Motor vehicle with a net book value of $176,000 (2008: $242,000) is registered in the name of a director who 

holds the asset in trust for the company.

iii)  A property of a subsidiary with a carrying value of $1,287,000 (2008: $1,317,000) is mortgaged as security to 

secure bank facilities (see Note 26).

15. Intangible Assets

Group Goodwill

Intangibles –

customer base Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Cost:

Balance at beginning and end of year 29 February 2008 3,755 3,000 6,755

Reversal arising from shortfall of profi t guarantee (Note 28) (76) – (76)

Amount written off included in other charges (151) – (151)

Balance at end of year 28 February 2009 3,528 3,000 6,528

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:

Balance at 1 March 2007 – 300 300

Amortisation for the year – 300 300

Balance at 29 February 2008  – 600 600

Amortisation for the year – 300 300

Impairment losses recognised in the year 3,528 1,800 5,328

Balance at 28 February 2009 3,528 2,700 6,228

Net book value:

At 1 March 2007 3,755 2,700 6,455

At 29 February 2008 3,755 2,400 6,155

At 28 February 2009 – 300 300
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15. Intangible Assets (Cont’d)

 The goodwill and intangibles are allocated to cash-generating units (“CGU”) for the purpose of impairment testing. Each 

of those cash-generating units represents the group’s investment in each subsidiary as follows:-

Name of subsidiary Goodwill Intangibles Total

2009 $’000 $’000 $’000

Jackson Vehicle Holdings Pte Ltd and subsidiaries 3,528 300 3,828

2008

Jackspeed Leather Manufacture (Thailand) Co. Ltd. 151 – 151

Jackson Vehicle Holdings Pte Ltd and subsidiaries 3,604 2,400 6,004

3,755 2,400 6,155

 The goodwill was tested for impairment at the end of the year. An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying 

amount of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the 

higher of its fair value less costs to sell or its value in use. The recoverable amounts of CGU have been determined based 

on the value in use method. As detailed above the impairment test resulted in the recognition of a loss. Accordingly the 

goodwill and intangibles of the customer base have been written down to value in use.

 The value in use was determined by the management.  The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those 

regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period. 

Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that refl ect current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specifi c to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling 

prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

 The group prepares cash fl ow forecasts derived from the most recent fi nancial budgets approved by management for 

the next fi ve years. Management forecast using cash fl ow forecast with growth rates of -28%, -10%, 0%, 10% and 15% 

respectively over the next fi ve years. The discount rate of 9.479% (2008: 6.525%) was used to discount the forecast 

cash fl ow.  
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16. Investments in Subsidiaries

Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Unquoted shares at cost 13,265 12,851

Quasi-equity loans receivable from subsidiary at cost (Note 3) 100 –  

Less: provision for impairment (5,754) (244)

7,611 12,607

Net book value of subsidiaries 12,327 15,857

Analysis of above amount denominated in non-functional currencies:

United States Dollar 452 92

Malaysian Ringgit 1,868 1,868

Thai Baht – 771

Euro 159 121

Movements in provision for impairment:

Balance at beginning of year 244 –  

Impairment loss charged to income statement included in other charges 5,510 244

Balance at end of year 5,754 244

 In 2009, loan receivables from subsidiary are extended as quasi-equity loans and have no fi xed terms of repayment. 

The directors of the company consider these loans as quasi-equity in nature as these loans are not expected to be 

received until such time the subsidiary has the fi nancial resources in excess of its working capital requirements, and is 

in a position to return the capital. As such, these loans have not been fair valued.

 The subsidiaries held by the company and its subsidiaries are listed below:-

Name of subsidiaries, country of incorporation,

place of operations and principal activities

Cost in Books

of Group

Effective Percentage

of Equity

Held by Group

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 % %

Jackspeed Leather Special Manufacturer (M) Sdn. Bhd. (1)

Malaysia

Production and sale of automotive leather trim 1,868 1,868 100 100

Jackspeed Aviation Pte Ltd (2)

Singapore

Production and sale of leather and fabrics covers and interior 

   refurbishment for use in aviation and marine industries 500 500 100 100
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16. Investments in Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Name of subsidiaries, country of incorporation,

place of operations and principal activities

Cost in Books

of Group

Effective Percentage

of Equity

Held by Group

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 % %

Jackspeed Leather Manufacture (Thailand) Co. Ltd. (3) (4)

Thailand

Production and sale of automotive leather trim 771 771 100 100

Jackspeed Europe NV (5)(6)

Belgium

Marketing of automotive leather trims and accessories 121 121 100 100

Jackson Vehicle Holdings Pte Ltd (2) (13)

Singapore

Investment holding 8,713 8,789 100 100

Katsuya International Pte Ltd (2) 

Singapore

Investment holding 510 510 51 51

Jackspeed Singapore Pte Ltd (2) (11)

Singapore

Production and sale of automotive leather trim 200 200 100 100

PT JLS Indonesia (9)

Indonesia 

Production and sale of automotive leather trim 92 92 99.5 99.5

Jackspeed Europe B.V. (6)

(Incorporated on 22 August 2008) 

Holland 

Design and installation of automotive leather trim 38 – 100 –

Jackspeed Leather Manufacturer (Haining) Co., Ltd (6) (12)

(Incorporated on 5 May 2008) 

China 

Production and sale of automotive leather trim 452 – 100 –

Strategic Icon Technologies Pte. Ltd. (2)

(Incorporated on 9 April 2008) 

Singapore

Production and sale of automobile hardware – (10) – 100 –
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16. Investments in Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Name of subsidiaries, country of incorporation,

place of operations and principal activities

Cost in Books

of Group

Effective Percentage

of Equity

Held by Group

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 % %

Held by subsidiaries

Jackspeed Industries Sdn. Bhd (1)(7)

Malaysia

Production and sale of automotive leather trim 158 158 100 100

Jackson Vehicle (Singapore) Pte Ltd (2)(8) 

Singapore

Design, manufacture, assembly, research, import and export of 

   automotive accessories 1,708 1,708 100 100

J. V. (Thailand ) Co., Ltd (3)(8)

Thailand

Manufacture, assembly and supply of automobile component parts 1,082 1,082 100 100

(1) Other independent auditors. Audited by Horwath, Malaysia, a fi rm of accountants other than member fi rms of 

RSM International of which RSM Chio Lim LLP in Singapore is a member.

(2)  Audited by RSM Chio Lim LLP in Singapore.

(3)  Audited by RSM Audit Services (Thailand) Limited, a member fi rm of RSM International of which RSM Chio Lim 

LLP in Singapore is a member.

(4)  6 ordinary shares of 100 Thai Baht each in Jackspeed Leather Manufacture (Thailand) Co. Ltd. are held in trust 

by certain directors and employees of the group respectively.

(5) 1 share of 1 Euro in Jackspeed Europe NV is held in trust by a director of a subsidiary.

(6) Not audited as it is not considered material.

(7) This subsidiary is held by Jackspeed Leather Special Manufacturer (M) Sdn. Bhd.

(8) This subsidiary is held by Jackson Vehicle Holdings Pte Ltd. Also see Note 2.

(9) Other independent auditors. Audited by Drs. Sukimto Sjamsuli, Indonesia, a fi rm of accountants other than 

member fi rms of RSM International of which RSM Chio Lim LLP in Singapore is a member.

(10) Cost of investment is less than $1,000.
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16 Investments in Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

(11) Before 6 March 2009, the subsidiary was known as Jackspeed China Development Pte Ltd.

(12) Subsidiary’s fi nancial year end is 31 December. The management accounts as at 28 February 2009 is used for 

the purpose of consolidation.

(13) 100% owned subsidiary was acquired on 1 March 2006. Refer to Note 28.

As is required by Rule 716 of the Listing Manual of The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited the audit 

committee and the board of directors of the company have satisfi ed themselves that the appointment of different 

auditors for certain of its overseas subsidiaries would not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the audit of 

the group. 

17. Investment in Associates

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Unquoted equity shares at cost 873 873 338 338

Less: provision for impairment (85) – (338) (78)

Share of other reserves of associates – 32 – –

Share of post acquisition losses (788) (494) – –

Share of net book value of associates – 411 – 260

Analysis of above amount denominated in 

   non-functional currency:

Thai Baht – 411 – 260

Share of net book value of associates – 142 83 260

Movements in above provision:

Balance at beginning of year – – 78 –  

Impairment loss charged to income statement 

   included in other charges 85 – 260 78

Balance at end of year 85 – 338 78
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17. Investment in Associates (Cont’d)

 The associates held by the company and a subsidiary are listed below: 

Name of associates, country of incorporation, 

place of operations and principal activities

Percentage of Equity 

Held by the Group 

2009

%

2008

%

Aapico Jackspeed Co., Ltd (a) 

Thailand

Manufacturing of automotive accessories 40 40

Katsuya Thailand Co., Ltd (b)

Thailand

Film surfacing on gadgets or automotive parts 23 23

(a) Other independent auditors. Audited by Golden Coins International Accounting and Law Co. Ltd in 2008.

  

(b) Other independent auditors. Audited by Ernst & Young (Thailand) in 2008.

 In 2007, the latest available unaudited fi nancial statements of the associates have been used for equity accounting 

purposes. The fi nancial year end of the associates is 31 December.

 The summarised fi nancial information, not adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the group, on the associates 

for year ended 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007, are as follows: 

Assets Liabilities Revenue Loss

31 December 2008 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Aapico Jackspeed Co., Ltd (Thailand) 771 564 269 (377)

Katsuya Thailand Co., Ltd (Thailand) 901 1,642 245 (497)

31 December 2007

Aapico Jackspeed Co., Ltd (Thailand) 1,626 977 1,501 (271)

Katsuya Thailand Co., Ltd (Thailand) 1,163 1,425 361 (630)

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Share of operating lease commitments 7 11 – –
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18. Inventories

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Finished goods and goods for resale 883 1,682 467 787

Work in progress 470 168 245 30

Raw material, consumables and supplies 6,406 9,413 2,988 3,969

7,759 11,263 3,700 4,786

 Inventories are stated after allowance. 

 Movements in allowance:

Balance at beginning of year 357 370 150 140

Charge to income statement included in

  changes in inventories 746 25 66 14

Foreign exchange adjustments – 13 – –

Used (58) (51) (58) (4)

Balance at end of year 1,045 357 158 150

The write-downs of inventories charged to 

   income statement included in other charges 164 – – –

 There were no inventories being pledged as security for the bank facilities (2008: $37,000) (Note 26).

19. Trade and Other Receivables 

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Trade receivables:

Outside parties 3,572 6,461 1,700 2,099

Less allowance for impairment (51) – – – 

Subsidiaries (Notes 3 and 16) – – 742 1,968

Subtotal 3,521 6,461 2,442 4,067
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19. Trade and Other Receivables (Cont’d)

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Other receivables:

Associates (Note 3) 74 683 – – 

Related parties (Note 3) (a) 521 618 – – 

Subsidiaries (Note 3) – – 2,372 4,382

Less: allowance for impairment – – (1,234) (533)

Advances 133 365 – – 

Other receivables 4 263 – – 

Subtotal 732 1,929 1,138 3,849

Total trade and other receivables 4,253 8,390 3,580 7,916

 

Movements in above allowance:  

Balance at beginning of year – 4 533 710

Charge for related company other receivables to

   income statement included in other charges – – 701 –

Charge for trade receivables to 

   income statement included in other charges 51 – – –

Bad debts written off – (4) – (177)

Balance at end of year 51 – 1,234 533

(a)  Included in other receivables owing from related parties is a loan amounting to $421,000 (2008: $518,000) 

which bears interest rate at 3% per annum in 2008 and 2009. The loan is on a non-recourse basis except for 

the security held. The loan is secured by 104,100 shares of 100 Baht per preference share of the subsidiary, J.V. 

(Thailand) Co., Ltd.

20. Other Assets 

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Deposits to secure services 303 403 38 30

Prepayments 159 253 39 36

Tax recoverable 167 476 – – 

629 1,132 77 66
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21. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Not restricted in use 11,958 11,412 6,800 5,801

Interest earning balances 7,995 7,104 6,129 4,600

 The rate of interest for the cash on interest earning accounts is between 0.03% to 3.35% per annum (2008: 0.4% to 

5.25% per annum). 

 Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Cash Flow Statement:

Group

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Cash 11,958 11,412

Bank overdrafts (174) –

Cash and cash equivalents for cash fl ow statement purposes at end of year 11,784 11,412

 Non-cash transactions:

 During the year, there were no acquisitions of plant and equipment (2008: $74,000) acquired by means of fi nance 

leases. 

 

22. Share Capital

Group and Company

Number of 

shares issued

Share 

capital

’000 $’000

Ordinary shares of no par value:

Balance at beginning of year 1 March 2007 174,667 21,832

Issue of shares at $0.18 each (b) (c) 12,945   2,330

Share issue expenses –  (53)

Balance at end of year 29 February 2008 187,612 24,109

Issue of shares at $0.18 each (a) 21,631 3,894

Balance at end of year 28 February 2009 209,243 28,003

Notes to the Financial Statements
28 February 2009



Jackspeed Corporation Limited    Annual Report 2009  |  73

22. Share Capital (Cont’d)

 During the year, the company made the following issues of shares:

(a)  the issue of an aggregate of 21,631,446 new ordinary shares on 5 November 2008 to Liew Ham Chow, a director 

of the company, Liew Nyuk Ngoh, Ho Choon Meng and Lee Seng Jeow (collectively known as “JVH Vendors”) in 

satisfaction of the amount of S$3.89 million as the second and fi nal tranche payment for the acquisition of 100% 

of the registered share capital of Jackson Vehicle Holdings Pte Ltd and its subsidiaries.

 In 2008, the company made the following issues of shares:

(b)  the issue of an aggregate of 3,236,366 at an issue price of S$0.18 per share to Aapico Investment Pte Ltd 

and Mr Ang Kian Lee, a director of the company, pursuant to the subscription agreement dated 15 February 

2006. The proceeds from the share issue were used for acquisition of subsidiaries, working capital and future 

investments.

(c)  the issue of an aggregate of 9,709,100 ordinary shares on 30 May 2007 to the JVH Vendors in satisfaction of the 

amount of S$1.75 million as part of the 1st tranche payment for the acquisition of 100% of the registered share 

capital of Jackson Vehicle Holdings Pte Ltd and its subsidiaries.

 The ordinary shares of no par value which are fully paid carry no right to fi xed income.  The company is not subject to 

any externally imposed capital requirements.

 The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the company to maintain its listing on the Singapore Stock 

Exchange it has to have share capital with at least a free fl oat of at least 10% of the shares. The company met the 

capital requirement on its initial listing and the rules limiting treasury share purchases mean it will automatically continue 

to satisfy that requirement, as it did throughout the year. Management receives a report from the registrars frequently 

on substantial share interests showing the non-free fl oat and it demonstrated continuing compliance with the 10% limit 

throughout the year.

 The management does not set a target level of gearing but uses capital opportunistically to support its business and to 

add value for shareholders. The key discipline adopted is to widen the margin between the return on capital employed 

and the cost of that capital.

 The objectives when managing capital are: to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that 

it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefi ts for other stakeholders, and to provide an adequate 

return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk. The management sets 

the amount of capital in proportion to risk.  There were no changes in the approach to capital management during the 

year. The management manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it where necessary or possible in the 

light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  In order to maintain or 

adjust the capital structure, the management may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital 

to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

 The group and company has insignifi cant external borrowings. The debt-to-adjusted capital ratio does not provide a 

meaningful indicator of the risk of borrowings.
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23. Other Reserves

Asset 

revaluation 

reserve

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve Total

Group $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 March 2007 316 (148) 168

Exchange difference on translating foreign operations –  81 81

At 29 February 2008 316 (67) 249

At 1 March 2008 316 (67) 249

Exchange difference on translating foreign operations – (557) (557)

At 28 February 2009 316 (624) (308)

 The foreign currency translation reserve accumulates all foreign exchange differences. The revaluation reserve (net of 

deferred tax) arises from the revaluation of the property held in Malaysia. It is not distributable until it is released to the 

income statement on the disposal of the property. All reserves classifi ed on the face of the balance sheet as retained 

earnings represents past accumulated earnings and are distributable as cash dividends. The other reserves are not 

available for cash dividends unless realised.

24. Trade and Other Payables

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Trade payables

Outside parties and accrued liabilities 2,928 5,622 1,555 2,988

Associates (Notes 3 and 17) 104 –  – –  

Subsidiaries (Notes 3 and 16) – –  565 1,986

Customer deposits 57 348 – 280

Subtotal 3,089 5,970 2,120 5,254

Other payables

Outside parties 22 17 6 3

Amount owing to the vendors (Note 28) – 3,952  – 3,952

Associates (Notes 3 and 17) 223 –   – –  

Subsidiaries (Notes 3 and 16) – –  241 8

Related parties (Note 3) 613 623 – –  

Subtotal 858 4,592 247 3,963

Total trade and other payables 3,947 10,562 2,367 9,217

 Amount owing to the vendors relate to the balance consideration on the acquisition of Jackson Vehicle Holdings Pte 

Ltd and subsidiaries (Notes 22 and 28).
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25. Finance Leases

Group

Minimum

payments

Finance 

charges

Present 

value

2009 $’000 $’000 $’000

Minimum lease payments payable:

Due within one year 102 (12) 90

Due within 2 to 5 years 52 (6) 46

Total 154 (18) 136

Net book value of plant and equipment under fi nance leases 243

Minimum

payments

Finance 

charges

Present 

value

2008 $’000 $’000 $’000

Minimum lease payments payable:

Due within one year 130 (8)  122

Due within 2 to 5 years 145 (14) 131

Total  275 (22) 253

Net book value of plant and equipment under fi nance leases 444

Company

Minimum

payments

Finance 

charges

Present 

value

2009 $’000 $’000 $’000

Minimum lease payments payable:

Due within one year 42 (4) 38

Due within 2 to 5 years 24 (2) 22

Total 66 (6) 60

Net book value of plant and equipment under fi nance leases 176

Minimum

payments

Finance 

charges

Present 

value

2008 $’000 $’000 $’000

Minimum lease payments payable:

Due within one year 42 (4)   38

Due within 2 to 5 years 66 (7) 59

Total  108 (11) 97

Net book value of plant and equipment under fi nance leases 242

 It is a policy to lease certain of its plant and equipment under fi nance leases. The average lease term is 1 to 6 years. The 

rate of interest for fi nance leases is about 2.85% to 4.25% (2008: 2.85% to 7.07%) per year. There is exposure to fair 

value from interest risk because the interest rates are fi xed at the contract date. All leases are on a fi xed repayment basis 

and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental payments. The obligations under fi nance leases are 

secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets.

 The carrying amount of the lease liabilities is not signifi cantly different from the fair value.
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26. Other Financial Liabilities

Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Non-current

Bank loan (secured) (Note 26A) 651 751

Non-Current, Total 651 751

Current

Bank loan (secured) (Note 26A) 103 102

Bank overdraft (secured) (Note 26B) 174 563

Trust receipts (secured)  (Note 26A) – 37

Current, Total 277 702

Total 928 1,453

The non-current portion is repayable as follows:

Due within 2 to 5 years 471 267

After 5 years 180 484

Total non-current portion 651 751

 All the amounts are at fl oating interest rates except the following that are on fi xed interest rates:

Group

2009 2008

Bank loan (1) – 3.25%

 The range of fl oating rate interest rates paid were as follows:

Bank loan (1) 4.25% – 4.5% 3.25% - 3.75%

Trust receipts – 5.18%

Bank overdrafts 7.45% 6.80%

(1) The bank loan has a fi xed interest rate for the fi rst 24 months from October 2005 and a variable interest rate 

thereafter.

26A Bank Loan and Trust Receipts 

 The bank loan is secured by a mortgage on a subsidiary’s leasehold land and building, covered by a corporate guarantee 

by the company and negative pledge on the subsidiary’s assets. It is repayable by equal monthly instalments over ten 

years from October 2005. 

 Other credit facilities are covered by a corporate guarantee by the company, a fi rst legal open mortgage over the 

subsidiary’s leasehold property and negative pledges in respect of any assets (except stock in trade).

 The trust receipts were also covered by a fi rst and legal charge on the underlying inventories purchased.
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26. Other Financial Liabilities (Cont’d)

26B Bank Overdraft 

 The credit facilities are secured by personal guarantees from certain directors of the subsidiary and a corporate guarantee 

from related company in the group.

27. Financial Instruments: Information on Financial Risks

27A Classifi cation of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

 The following table summarises the carrying amount of fi nancial assets and liabilities recorded at the end of the reporting 

year by FRS 39 categories:

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 11,958 11,412 6,800 5,801

Loans and receivables 4,253 8,390 3,580 7,916

At end of year 16,211 19,802 10,380 13,717

Financial liabilities

Borrowings at amortised cost 1,064 1,706 60 97

Trade and other payables at amortised cost 3,890 10,214 2,367 8,937

At end of year 4,954 11,920 2,427 9,034

 Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these fi nancial statements.
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27.  Financial Instruments: Information on Financial Risks (Cont’d)

27B Financial Risk Management

 The main purpose for holding or issuing fi nancial instruments is to raise and manage the fi nances for the entity’s operating, 

investing and fi nancing activities.  There is exposure to the fi nancial risks on the fi nancial instruments such as credit risk, 

liquidity risk and market risk comprising interest rate, currency risk and price risk exposures.  The management has 

certain practices for the management of fi nancial risks and action to be taken in order to manage the fi nancial risks. The 

following guidelines include the following:

1. Minimise interest rate, currency, credit and market risks for all kinds of transactions.

2. Maximise the use of “natural hedge”: favouring as much as possible the natural off-setting of sales and costs 

and payables and receivables denominated in the same currency and therefore put in place hedging strategies 

only for the excess balance. The same strategy is pursued with regard to interest rate risk. 

3. All fi nancial risk management activities are carried out and monitored by senior management staff.

4. All fi nancial risk management activities are carried out following good market practices.

27C Credit Risk on Financial Assets

 Financial assets that are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk and failures by counterparties to discharge 

their obligations in full or in a timely manner consist principally of cash balances with banks, cash equivalents and 

receivables. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of the fi nancial instruments at the end of the reporting 

year. Credit risk on cash balances with banks and derivative fi nancial instruments is limited because the counter-parties 

are banks with acceptable credit ratings.  All unencumbered bank deposits with the banks licensed by the Monetary 

Authority of Singapore are guaranteed by the Singapore Government until 31 December 2010. At the end of the year 

the balance with the banks in Singapore was $8,606,000. 

 For credit risk on receivables an ongoing credit evaluation is performed of the debtors’ fi nancial condition and a loss 

from impairment is recognised in the income statement.  There is no signifi cant concentration of credit risk, as the 

exposure is spread over a large number of counter-parties and customers unless otherwise disclosed in the notes to the 

fi nancial statements.  The exposure to credit risk is controlled by setting limits on the exposure to individual customers 

and these are disseminated to the relevant persons concerned and compliance is monitored by management.   

 As is disclosed in Note 21 cash and cash equivalents balances represent amounts with a less than 90 days maturity.
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27.  Financial Instruments: Information on Financial Risks (Cont’d)

27C Credit Risk on Financial Assets (Cont’d)

 As part of the process of setting customer credit limits, different credit terms are used. The average credit period 

generally granted to non-related trade receivable customers of the group and company is about 30 to 60 days (2008: 

30 to 60 days).  But some customers take a longer period to settle the amounts. The table below illustrates the ageing 

analysis:

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Trade receivables

Current 2,181 4,651 1,137 1,523

31 - 60 days 551 791 419 509

61 - 90 days 108 100 503 77

91 - 180 days 201 168 156 1,958

Over 180 days 480 751 227 – 

At end of year 3,521 6,461 2,442 4,067

 The total of overdue accounts for the group and company was $889,000 and $409,000 (2008: $919,000 and $52,000) 

respectively. These are not secured.

 Other receivables are normally with no fi xed terms and therefore there is no maturity.

 Concentration of trade receivable customers:

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Top 1 customer 634 2,169 634 1,690

Top 2 customers 1,100 2,671 1,211 2,085

Top 3 customers 1,306 3,066 1,417 2,475

 The allowance which is disclosed in Note 19 on trade receivables is based on individual accounts totalling $51,000 

(2008: Nil) that are determined to be impaired at the year end date.     
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27.  Financial Instruments: Information on Financial Risks (Cont’d)

27D Liquidity Risk

 The liquidity risk is managed on the basis of expected maturity dates of the fi nancial liabilities. 

 The following table analyses fi nancial liabilities by remaining contractual maturity (contractual and undiscounted cash 

fl ows): 

Bank 

borrowings and

fi nance leases

Trade and 

other payables Total

Group $’000 $’000 $’000

2009

Less than 1 year 379 3,890 4,269

2 – 5 years 523 – 523

Over 5 years 180 – 180

At end of year 1,082 3,890 4,972

2008

Less than 1 year 832 10,214 11,046

2 – 5 years 412 – 412

Over 5 years 484 – 484

At end of year 1,728 10,214 11,942

Company

2009

Less than 1 year 42 2,367 2,409

2 – 5 years 24 – 24

At end of year 66 2,367 2,433

2008

Less than 1 year 42 8,937 8,979

2 – 5 years 66 – 66

At end of year 108 8,937 9,045

 The average credit period taken to settle non-related trade payables is about 60 days (2008: 60 days). The other 

payables are with short-term durations. 

 It is expected that all the liabilities will be paid at their contractual maturity.  In order to meet such cash commitments 

the operating activity is expected to generate suffi cient cash infl ows.
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27.  Financial Instruments: Information on Financial Risks (Cont’d)

27E Interest Rate Risk

 The following table analyzes the breakdown by type of interest rate:

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Financial assets

Fixed rate 421 518 – –  

Floating rate 7,995 7,104 6,129 4,600  

Non-interest bearing 7,795 12,180 4,251 9,117

At end of year 16,211 19,802 10,380 13,717

Financial liabilities

Fixed rate 136 253 60 97

Floating rate 928 1,453 – –  

Non-interest bearing 3,890 10,214 2,367 8,937

At end of year 4,954 11,920 2,427 9,034

 The interest rates are disclosed in the respective notes.

 Sensitivity analysis:

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

A hypothetical increase in interest rates by 50 basis

   points would have a favourable effect on profi t 

   before tax of 35 28 31 23

A hypothetical increase in interest rates by 100 

   basis points would have a favourable effect on 

   profi t before tax of 71 56 61 46

A hypothetical increase in interest rates by 150 

   basis points would have a favourable effect on 

   profi t before tax of 106 85 92 69

A hypothetical increase in interest rates by 200 

   basis points would have a favourable effect on 

   profi t before tax of 141 113 123 92

 The analysis has been performed separately for fi xed interest rate and fl oating interest rate fi nancial assets and liabilities. 

The impact of a change in interest rates on fi xed interest rate fi nancial instruments has been assessed in terms of 

changing of their fair value. The impact of a change in interest rates on fl oating interest rate fi nancial instruments has 

been assessed in terms of changing of their cash fl ows and therefore in terms of the impact on net expenses.
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27.  Financial Instruments: Information on Financial Risks (Cont’d)

27F Foreign Currency Risks

 Analysis of amounts denominated in non-functional currency:

Group 2009 2008

Financial assets Cash Receivables Total Cash Receivables Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

US Dollars 646 241 887 424 1,307 1,731

Malaysian Ringgit 1,580 –  1,580 2,088 140 2,228

Euro 708 423 1,131 160 381 541

Thai Baht 655 842 1,497 677 3,741 4,418

At end of year 3,589 1,506 5,095 3,349 5,569 8,918

2009 2008

Financial liabilities

Finance 

leases and 

borrowings

Trade 

and other 

payables Total

Finance 

leases and 

borrowings

Trade 

and other 

payables Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

US Dollars –  833 833 –  2,086 2,086

Malaysian Ringgit 1 475 476 13 504 517

Euro 1 41 42 15 90 105

Thai Baht 205 648 853 641 1,056 1,697

At end of year 207 1,997 2,204 669 3,736 4,405

Company 2009 2008

Financial assets Cash Receivables Total Cash Receivables Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

US Dollars 55 859 914 90 2,231 2,321

Euro –  26 26 –  59 59

Thai Baht –  122 122 –  386 386

At end of year 55 1,007 1,062 90 2,676 2,766

Trade and other payables 

Financial liabilities 2009 2008

$’000 $’000

US Dollars 1,100 2,620

 There is exposure to foreign currency risk as part of its normal business.
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27.  Financial Instruments: Information on Financial Risks (Cont’d)

27F Foreign Currency Risks (Cont’d)

 Sensitivity analysis: 

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

A hypothetical 10% increase in the exchange rate of 

   the functional currency $ against the US$ would have a 

   favourable / (adverse) effect on profi t before tax of (5) 36 19 (30)

A hypothetical 10% increase in the exchange rate of the 

   functional currency $ against the Malaysian Ringgit would 

   have an adverse effect on profi t before tax of (110) (171) –  –  

A hypothetical 10% increase in the exchange rate of the 

   functional currency $ against the Euro would have an 

   adverse effect on profi t before tax of (109) (44) (3) (6)  

A hypothetical 10% increase in the exchange rate of the 

   functional currency $ against the Thai Baht would have an

   adverse effect on profi t before tax of (64) (272) (12) (39)

 The analysis above has been carried out on the following basis that there are no hedged transactions.

28. Acquisition of Subsidiaries 

 The group acquired 100% equity interest of Jackson Vehicle Holdings Pte Ltd and subsidiaries (“JVH Group”) with 

effect from 1 March 2006, at an estimated consideration of S$8.54 million, subject to the audited net profi t after tax of 

JVH Group for the fi nancial years ended 28 February 2007 and 29 February 2008. Based on the audited consolidated 

fi nancial statements of JVH Group for the fi nancial years ended 28 February 2007 and 29 February 2008, there was a 

downward adjustment of $60,000 to the fi nal consideration and a cash compensation of $16,000 from the vendors. 

Accordingly, the cost of investments and goodwill is reduced by $76,000 respectively.

 The cash consideration paid as at 28 February 2007 amounted to S$3.11 million. The remaining amount is payable by 

way of issue of shares (“Consideration Shares”) in two tranches within one month after the completion of the audit of 

JVH Group for each of the fi nancial years ended 28 February 2007 and 29 February 2008.  During the fi nancial year, the 

company issued 21,631,446 shares at S$0.18 per share totalling S$3.89 million in satisfaction of the second tranche 

of Consideration Shares.

 The deferred consideration has been classifi ed as “ Trade and Other Payables – Current” in the balance sheet at 29 

February 2008. The vendors include Liew Ham Chow, a director of the company, certain directors of a subsidiary and 

an associate of Liew Ham Chow.
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29. Operating Lease Payment Commitments

  At the balance sheet date the total of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as 

follows:

Group Company

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Not later than one year 346 313 53 52

Later than one year and not later than fi ve years 618 450 218 209

Later than 5 years 3,149 3,106 2,080 2,052

Rental expense for the year 507 474 50 50

 Operating lease payments mainly represent rentals payable by the group for its leasehold premises, offi ce and production 

facilities and license fees for its showroom located at the following locations:

(a) 47 Loyang Drive, Singapore 508955;

(b) 45 Loyang Drive Singapore 508954;

(c) Popovstraat 9, 8013 RK Zwolle and Seringenstraat 15, 8012 XD, Zwolle;

(d) 19-370 Luolong Road, Haining Economic Development Zone, Haining, Zhejiang, 314400, China; and

(e) G802 & G812 Amata Nakorn Industrial Estate, Thailand.

 The lease from Jurong Town Corporation is for 30 years from 1 June 1993 with an entitlement of a further term of 29 

years from 1 June 2023. The lease term will be negotiated on 1 June 2024 to a rate based on the market rent on the 

date of negotiation. Rentals are subject to an escalation clause but the amount of the rent increase is not to exceed a 

certain percentage.  Such increases are not included in the above amounts.  

 The lease for offi ce facilities in Holland, Zwolle is for 5 years from 11 October 2008 to 1 August 2013. Rentals are subject 

to a readjustment clause but the amount of the rent increase is not to exceed a certain percentage. Such increases or 

decreases are not included in the above amounts.

 The lease for offi ce and production facilities at Thailand is for 3 years from 1 October 2008 to 30 September 2011. 

Rentals are not subject to an escalation clause. The leases for offi ce and production facilities in Thailand are negotiated 

for terms of 3 years.  Rentals are subject to an escalation clause but the amount of the rent increase is not to exceed a 

certain percentage.  Such increases are not included in the above amounts. 
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29. Operating Lease Payment Commitments (Cont’d)

 The rental agreements for the following properties have been terminated as at 28 February 2009:

(a) Kompleks Hijrah Industrial Blok F No.1, and 2 Batam Centre 29432, Indonesia;

(b) 229/126 Moo. 1, Taparak Road, Bangsaothong Sub-district, King-Ampur Bangsaothong District, Samutprakarn 

10540, Thailand;

(c) 229/111 Moo 1, Taparak Road Tambol Bangsaothong, Bangsaothong Sub-district, Samutprakarn 10540, 

Thailand;

(d) 229/106 Moo 1,  Taparak Road Km. 20, Bangsaothong Sub-district, Bangsaothong district, Samutprakarn 

10540, Thailand; and

(e) Wiedauwkaai 81 in Ghent, Belgium.

 The lease for offi ce facilities in Belgium, Ghent is for 9 years from 1 March 2006 to 28 February 2015. Rentals are subject 

to a readjustment clause but the amount of the rent increase is not to exceed a certain percentage. Such increases or 

decreases are not included in the above amounts. The lease was terminated during the year 2008.

 The lease for offi ce and production facilities in Batam was for 3 years from 1 January 2008 to 1 January 2011. The 

leases for offi ce and production facilities at Thailand were for 3 years from 1 March 2006 to 28 February 2009 and 1 

year from 1 August 2007 to 31 July 2008 .  These leases were terminated during the end of the reporting year.

30. Contingent Liabilities

 The company has issued corporate guarantees to banks in respect of bank facilities extended to certain subsidiaries 

amounting to $6,100,000 (2008: $6,241,000). 

 A subsidiary has issued a corporate guarantee in respect of banking facilities granted to a fellow subsidiary amounting 

to $2,139,000 (2008: $2,348,000).
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31. Changes and Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards

  For the year ended 28 February 2009 the following new or revised Singapore Financial Reporting Standards were 

adopted for the fi rst time. The new or revised standards did not require any material modifi cation of the measurement 

method or the presentation in the fi nancial statements.  

 FRS No. Title

 INT FRS 111  FRS102 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions (*)

 INT FRS 112 Service Concessions Arrangements (*)  

 INT FRS 114 FRS 19 The Limit on a Defi ned Benefi t Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction. (*)

  (*) Not relevant to the entity.

32. Future Changes in Accounting Standards

  The following new or revised Singapore Financial Reporting Standards that have been issued will be effective in future. 

The transfer to the new or revised standards from the effective dates are not expected to result in material adjustments 

to the fi nancial position, results of operations, or cash fl ows for the following year. 

FRS No. Title

Effective date for 

periods beginning 

on or after

FRS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements 1.1.2009

FRS 23 Borrowing Costs 1.1.2009

FRS 103 (Revised) Business Combinations and consecutive amendments in 

   other Standards

1.1.2009

FRS 108 Operating Segments 1.1.2009

INT FRS 113 Customer Loyalty Programs (*) 1.7.2008

INT FRS 116 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 1.10.2008

INT FRS 117 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners 1.7.2009

(*)  Not relevant to the entity.
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No of Issued Shares -  209,243,579

Class of Shares -  Ordinary

Voting rights -  On a show of hands: One vote for each member 

  On a poll: one vote for each ordinary share

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Range of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1 - 999 1 0.14 500 0.00 

1,000 - 10,000 337 48.84 1,809,500 0.86 

10,001 - 1,000,000 328 47.54 22,675,400 10.84 

1,000,001 and above 24 3.48 184,758,179 88.30 

690 100.00 209,243,579 100.00

TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 22 MAY 2009

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 Liew Ham Chow                           47,728,845      22.81 

2 Aapico Investment Pte Ltd           37,522,427      17.93 

3 Chong Thim Pheng                        24,067,000      11.50 

4 Mayban Nominees (S) Pte Ltd             14,000,000        6.69 

5 Chua Eng Guan             9,380,606        4.48 

6 Liew Nyuk Ngoh                            6,268,110        3.00 

7 Liew San Chow             5,036,000        2.41 

8 Lee Seng Jeow                             4,395,081        2.10 

9 Merrill Lynch (S) Pte Ltd             4,030,000        1.93 

10 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd                      3,724,000        1.78 

11 Ho Choon Meng             3,434,110        1.64 

12 OCBC Securities Private Ltd             3,170,000        1.51 

13 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd             2,709,000        1.29 

14 Mah Yu Ling             2,608,000        1.25 

15 Waterworth Pte Ltd             2,350,000        1.12 

16 Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd.             2,274,000        1.09 

17 Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd             2,247,000        1.07 

18 Steven Widjaja             2,002,000        0.96 

19 CIMB-GK Securities Pte. Ltd.             1,645,000        0.79 

20 Chew Kheng Siang             1,407,000        0.67 

179,998,179 86.02

SHAREHOLDING HELD IN HANDS OF PUBLIC AS AT 22 MAY 2009 

Based on information available to the Company as at 22 May 2009, approximately 33.18% of the issued ordinary shares of the 

Company is held by the public and therefore Rule 723 of the Listing Manual is complied with.

Statistics of Shareholdings 
as at 22 May 2009
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Substantial Shareholders 
As at 22 May 2009 

(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

 

Substantial Shareholders 

No. of Shares

%Direct Interests Deemed Interests

Liew Ham Chow (1) 47,728,845 18,020,000 31.42

Aapico Investment Pte Ltd 37,522,427 - 17.93

Chong Thim Pheng 24,067,000 - 11.50

(1) The deemed interest of Mr Liew Ham Chow arises from 14,000,000 shares held by Mayban Nominees (S) Pte Ltd, 

2,000,000 shares held by Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd, 1,500,000 shares held by UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd,  and 520,000 

shares held by OCBC Securities Private Ltd.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 47 Loyang Drive Singapore 

508955 on Friday, 26 June 2009 at 10:00 a.m. to transact the following businesses:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1. To receive and consider the Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the fi nancial year ended 28 February 2009 and 

the Auditors’ Report thereon. Resolution 1

  

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$107,867 for the fi nancial year ended 28 February 2009. 

(2008: S$112,333) Resolution 2

  

3. To re-elect Mr Liew Ham Chow, who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Article 107 of the Company’s Articles of 

Association, as Director of the Company. Resolution 3

  

4. To re-elect Mr Voo Jun Hing, who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Article 107 of the Company’s Articles of 

Association, as Director of the Company. Resolution 4

  

5. To re-appoint Messrs RSM Chio Lim LLP as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fi x their remuneration.

  Resolution 5

SPECIAL BUSINESS :

 To consider and, if thought fi t, to pass with or without any modifi cations, the following resolutions as Ordinary 

Resolutions: 

  

6. That pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, Dr Tan Eng Liang be re-appointed as a Director of the 

Company to hold offi ce until the next Annual General Meeting.

 [Dr Tan Eng Liang shall, upon re-election as Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of Remuneration 

Committee and a member of Audit Committee. Dr Tan Eng Liang shall be considered independent for the purpose of 

Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.] Resolution 6

  

7.  That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 

Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to: 

(a) (i) issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would require 

shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) 

options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares, Resolution 7

 

 at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors 

of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fi t; and
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(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in 

pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution was in 

force,

provided that:

(1)  the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted 

pursuant to this Resolution) to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed fi fty per centum (50%) 

of the total number of  issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as calculated 

in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares and Instruments to 

be issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per 

centum (20%) of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as 

calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);

(2)  (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited) for the 

purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the 

total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) shall be based on the total number of issued shares 

(excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, after 

adjusting for: 

(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of  any convertible securities;

(b) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or 

subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution; and 

(c)   any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(3) the 50% limit in sub-paragraph (1) above may be increased to 100% for the Company to undertake pro-rata 

renounceable rights issues;

(4) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of 

the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the time being in force (unless 

such compliance has been waived by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited) and the Articles of 

Association of the Company; and 

(5)  unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force until the 

conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General 

Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

 [See Explanatory Note (i)] 
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8. That subject to and pursuant to the aforesaid share issue mandate being obtained, the Directors of the Company be 

hereby authorised and empowered to issue shares other than on a pro-rata basis at a discount not exceeding twenty 

per centum (20%) to the weighted average price for trades done on the SGX-ST for the full market day on which the 

placement or subscription agreement in relation to such shares is executed (or if not available for a full market day, the 

weighted average price must be based on the trades done on the preceding market day up to the time the placement 

or subscription agreement is executed), provided that :-

(a) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company  complies with the provisions of the Listing 

Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST); 

and

(b)  unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, such  authority shall continue in force until the 

conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General 

Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

 [See Explanatory Note (ii)] Resolution 8

  

9. To transact any other business which may be properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting. 

  

Explanatory Notes:  

  

(i) The proposed Resolution 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion 

of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the 

Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, 

whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant instruments convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant 

to such instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, 50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding 

treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to 

shareholders. The 50% limit referred to in the preceding sentence may be increased to 100% for the Company to 

undertake pro-rata renounceable rights issues.

 For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the total number of issued shares (excluding 

treasury shares) will be calculated based on the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital 

of the Company at the time this Ordinary Resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion 

or exercise of any convertible securities or share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting 

at the time when this Ordinary Resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of 

shares.

 The 100% renounceable pro-rata rights issue limit is one of the new measures implemented by the SGX-ST as stated 

in a press release entitled “SGX introduces further measures to facilitate fund raising” dated 19 February 2009 and 

which became effective on 20 February 2009. It will provide the Directors with an opportunity to raise funds and avoid 

prolonged market exposure by reducing the time  taken  for  shareholders’  approval,  in  the  event  the  need 
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 arises. Minority shareholders’ interests are mitigated as all shareholders have equal opportunities to participate and can 

dispose their entitlements through trading of nil-paid rights if they do not wish to subscribe for their rights shares. It  is  

subject  to  the  condition  that  the  Company  makes  periodic announcements on the use of the proceeds as and 

when the funds are materially disbursed and provides a status report on the use of proceeds in the annual report. 

(ii) The proposed Resolution 8 above is pursuant to measures implemented by the SGX-ST as stated in a press release 

entitled “SGX introduces further measures to facilitate fund raising” dated 19 February 2009 and which became effective 

on 20 February 2009. Under the measures implemented by the SGX-ST, issuers will be allowed to undertake non pro-

rata placements of new shares priced at discounts of up to 20% to the weighted average price for trades done on the 

SGX-ST for a full market day on which the placement or subscription agreement in relation to such shares is executed, 

subject to the conditions that (a) shareholders’ approval be obtained in a separate resolution (the “Resolution”) at a 

general meeting to issue new shares on a non pro-rata basis at discount exceeding 10% but not more than 20%; and 

(b) that the resolution seeking a general mandate from shareholders for issuance of new shares on a non pro-rata basis 

is not conditional upon the Resolution.

 It should be noted that under the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, shareholders’ approval is not required for placements 

of new shares, on a non pro-rata basis pursuant to a general mandate, at a discount of up to 10% to the weighted 

average price for trades done on the SGX-ST for a full market day on which the placement or subscription agreement 

in relation to such shares is executed. 

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Low Mei Mei Maureen

Company Secretary

11 June 2009

Proxies: 

1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the above Meeting may appoint not more than two proxies to 

attend and vote instead of him.

2. Where a member appoints two proxies, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each 

proxy in the instrument appointing the proxies.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. If the member is a corporation, the instrument appointing the proxy must be under seal or the hand of an offi cer or 

attorney duly authorized.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Offi ce of the Company at 47 Loyang Drive 

Singapore 508955 not less than 48 hours before the time set for the Annual General Meeting.
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JACKSPEED CORPORATION LIMITED

Registration No: 199300300W

(Incorporated In Singapore)

PROXY FORM

IMPORTANT

1.  For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy the 

Company’s shares, this Annual Report is forwarded to them at 

the request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely 

FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2.  This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be 

ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be 

used by them.

I/We  

of  

being a member/members of Jackspeed Corporation Limited (the “Company”) hereby appoint

Name Address NRIC/Passport 

Number

Proportion of 

Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC/Passport 

Number

Proportion of 

Shareholdings (%)

as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll at the Annual 

General Meeting of the Company to be held at 47 Loyang Drive Singapore 508955 on Friday, 26 June 2009 at 10:00 a.m. and 

at any adjournment thereof.  

(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the resolutions as 

set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting.  In the absence of specifi c directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as 

he/they may think fi t, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting.)

No. Resolutions For Against

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1 To receive and consider Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports and Audited Accounts for the 

fi nancial year ended 28 February 2009

2 To approve payment of Directors’ fees of  S$107,867.00

3 To re-elect Director - Mr Liew Ham Chow (Article 107)

4 To re-elect Director - Mr Voo Jun Hing (Article 107)

5 To re-appoint Messrs RSM Chio Lim LLP as Auditors and authorize the directors to 

fi x their remuneration

SPECIAL BUSINESS

6 To re-appoint Dr Tan Eng Liang pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Chapter 50

7 To authorize the directors to allot and issue shares

8 To authorize the directors to issue shares other than on pro-rata basis at discounts not 

exceeding 20%

Dated this  day of  2009

Total number of Shares held

Total number of Shares held

Signature(s) of member(s) or common seal

IMPORTANT:  PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF



NOTES :

1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you.  If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository 

Register (as defi ned in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50), you should insert that number of shares.  If 

you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of shares.  If you 

have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register 

of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of shares.   If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be 

deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than 

two proxies to attend and vote on his behalf.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding to be represented 

by each proxy.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised 

in writing.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either 

under its common seal or under the hand of its attorney or duly authorised offi cer.

5. A corporation which is a member of the Company may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body 

such person as it thinks fi t to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with its Articles of 

Association and Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies, together with the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which 

it is signed, or notarially certifi ed copy thereof, must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the Company at 47 Loyang 

Drive Singapore 508955 not less than 48 hours before the time set for the Annual General Meeting.

7. The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly 

completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the 

appointor specifi ed in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of members of the Company 

whose shares are entered against their names in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument 

appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if such members are not shown to have shares entered against their names in the 

Depository Register at least 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting as certifi ed by 

The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.





JACKSPEED CORPORATION LIMITED

Registration No: 199300300W 
47, Loyang Drive, Singapore 508955 

Tel: (65) 6788 2088 
Fax:  (65) 6789 0020

Website:  www.jackspeed.com 
Email:  investor@jackspeed.com


